The Impact of Leader's Support and Leader's Sexual Orientation on Inclusion of Gay Men in the Workplace: An Experimental Study.

By Abhishek Roy Choudhury (Thesis) submitted

To the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Management (OB/HR Specialization)

Faculty of Business Administration

Memorial University of Newfoundland

Graduating: October 2022

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador

Abstract

A leader who models inclusive behavior can contribute significantly toward the creation of a supportive environment for diverse members. To date, studies identifying how leader's support for inclusion of gay men and how leader's sexual orientation can influence inclusion of gay men are scarce. With a scenario based experimental study, I examined whether leaders' support for inclusion of gay men and leaders' sexual orientation have an impact on followers' decision to hire a gay man and follower's attitudes toward gay men co-workers. Hypotheses were tested on a sample of 149 full-time working adults of mixed occupations using two-way analysis of variance. The results showed followers are more likely to hire a gay man when their leader supports inclusion of gay men than when their leader does not support inclusion of gay men in the workplace. Results also suggested that followers are less likely to hire a gay man employee and are less likely to have positive attitudes toward their gay men co-workers when their leader is a gay man compared to when their leader is a heterosexual man. The implications of these findings are discussed.

Keywords: Diversity; Inclusion; Leader; Sexual Orientation; Decision to Hire; Attitude Toward Co-workers.

Acknowledgements

I wish to offer my sincere thanks to my thesis supervisor Dr. Travor Brown. All of your insight, never-ending patience, and constant support and encouragement facilitated the completion of this thesis. Dr. Brown offered his steady support for my holistic development as a human resource researcher and practitioner. I dedicate this thesis to my mother who made countless sacrifices that have enabled me to chase my academic dreams after a hiatus. Finally, I acknowledge my friends' love and support for every step of this journey. Specifically, I would like to thank Amarnath, Amlan, Debapratim, Partha, and Sujoy for offering me inexplicable support to start fresh in a new country amidst a global pandemic. My friends are my richest blessing from the Universe.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Acknowledgementsiii
List of tables
Introduction1
Literature Review and Theoretical Background
Concept of LGBT and their Discrimination in the Workplace
Coming Out in the Workplace
Impact of Leader's Support 12
Impact of Leader's Sexual Orientation16
The Interaction of Leader's Support and Leader's Sexual Orientation
Method
Pilot Study
Participants
Variables
Procedure
Measures
Results
Discussion

Implications for Scholarship and Practice	37
Limitations and Future Research	40
Conclusion	43
References	45
Appendix A: Vignettes	65
Appendix B: Tables	67
Appendix C: Measures	70
Appendix D: Ethics Approval	73
Appendix E: Consent Form for Prolific Recruitment	75

List of tables

Table 1.1	Correlations between Variables in the Study	67
Table 1.2	Means and Standard Deviations for Dependent Variables	67
Table 2.1	Results of Two-way Analysis of Variance on Follower's Decision	68
	to Hire a Gay Man	
Table 2.2	Descriptive Statistics with regard to Effect of Sexual Orientation	68
	and Leader's Support on Followers' Decision to Hire a Gay Man.	
Table 3.1	Results of Two-way Analysis of Variance on Followers' Attitude	69
	toward Gay Men Co-workers.	
Table 3.2	Descriptive Statistics with regard to Effect of Sexual Orientation	69
	and Leader's Support on Followers' Attitude toward Gay Men Co-	
	workers.	

Introduction

It's been 32 years since the World Health Organization decided to declassify homosexuality as a mental disorder in 1990 (Wareham, 2020). Nonetheless, as indicated by the major findings of a survey conducted by Pew Research Center in 34 countries in 2019 (Poushter & Kent, 2020), acceptance of gay rights is still divided by country, region, and economic development. Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) issues are thus increasingly becoming a principal theme in several political agendas and social struggles across the world (European Commission, 2015). The Public bodies of several nations are actively working to design new policies and strategies to protect LGBT rights (Serrano Amaya & Ríos González, 2019).

The concerted effort of campaigns across the globe could yield substantial changes in recent decades concerning laws related to LGBT rights and marriage equality (Angelo & Bocci, 2021). There has been a gradual decline in the number of countries that criminalize homosexuality and consider it punishable either by imprisonment (such as Egypt, Gambia, and Indonesia) or by the death penalty (such as Iran and Mauritania) (Gerber, 2020). Indeed, the number of such countries has decreased slightly from around 78 in 2013 to 71 in 2020 (Gerber, 2020). Around half of the countries in the world (such as India and Gabon) have decriminalized homosexuality but have not given same-sex couples access to a civil union, marriage, and adoption (Cottais, 2021). Around 15 countries (such as Chile, Cyprus, and Israel) have recognized civil union among same-sex couples; however, they do not offer the same rights as marriage (Cottais, 2021). Finally, there are around 30 countries (such as Canada, the United States, and Germany) that not only decriminalized homosexuality and recognized the civil union

of same-sex couples but also have given same-sex couples access to marriage (Masci et al., 2019).

Corporate policies have also mirrored the change in LGBT rights, with businesses constantly anticipating lawmakers (Zappulla, 2017). Corporations have taken strides in creating inclusive and more welcoming environments for LGBT employees. LGBT issues have garnered prominence in the diversity policies of organizations in many parts of the world. In January 2021, the Human Rights Campaign, in its Annual Corporate Equality Index (CEI), indicated that a growing number of Fortune 500 companies (96%) have protective policies that include sexual orientation. The figure marks a sharp increase compared to only 51% of Fortune 500 companies having sexual orientation-related protective policies in 2000 (Hewlett & Sumberg, 2011). Additionally, according to CEI 2021, 94% of Fortune 500 companies address gender identity in their non-discrimination policies, and more than half of Fortune 500 companies (57%) offer same-sex domestic partner benefits.

Despite such progress, research continues to surface sizeable evidence that gay men¹ face discrimination in the workplace (Eurofound, 2016; Valfort, 2017). Research evidence indicates that gay men and lesbians experience difficulties when accessing employment, and many gay men and lesbians experience discrimination or harassment in the workplace (Fric, 2019). Findings of studies conducted in Austria, Canada, Greece, and the United States have consistently suggested that fictional résumés with gay men or lesbian markers receive significantly lower call back rates as opposed to résumés comprising identical credentials and experience but that do not indicate a lesbian or gay sexual orientation (Anteby & Anderson,

¹ Consistent with other studies like Burn (2020), Bettinsoli et al. (2020), and Ahmed et al. (2013), I have used the terms 'gay man' (singular) or 'gay men' (plural) to mean male homosexuals in my thesis.

2014). Moreover, employed members of the LGBT community report experiencing discrimination in the form of bullying, verbal abuse, physical violence at work, blackmail, summary termination, and ostracism (Anteby & Anderson, 2014).

Discrimination of a person who identifies as LGBT in the workplace can be a loss for both organizations and the victims of discrimination. Organizations are at high risk of experiencing employee withdrawal and turnover when there is a lack of emphasis on establishing an inclusive work environment in general (Rice, 2018). A low level of inclusiveness, in general, can lead to intragroup polarization, increased turnover, heightened interpersonal conflict, and reduced group cohesion and communication (Rice et al., 2021). A non-inclusive culture, marked by LGBT inequity, poison corporate culture leading to employee disengagement and quitting (Sull et al., 2022). Specifically, the inclusion of LGBT workers has a positive relationship with financial measures like stock prices (Johnston & Malina, 2008; Wang & Schwarz, 2010), return on assets (Li & Nagar, 2013), output per worker (Shan et al., 2016) and employee innovation (Gao & Zhang, 2016). From the victim's perspective, discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation can lead to unemployment (Badgett et al., 2007) and poor mental health (Burgess et al., 2008). On the flip side, the inclusion of LGBT persons can lead to maximum utilization of existing human capital, which escalates overall productivity and economic output (Badgett et al., 2019). At an individual employee level, employees in inclusive companies have more positive work experiences relative to those in non-inclusive companies (Krentz et al., 2021). Overall, inclusive culture positively contributes to employee happiness and well-being (Krentz et al., 2021).

Given the severity of the impact of discrimination based on sexual orientation, researchers need to explore strategies to ameliorate the inclusion of sexual minorities in the workplace. Among the studies conducted on gay men employees, most studies, as indicated in the preceding paragraph, are directed toward identifying the nature of discrimination faced by gay men employees and the impact of such discrimination. Very few studies (e.g., Brodmann et al., 2021, Ashikali et al., 2021) have focused on ways the position of an organizational leader can be leveraged to promote inclusion of diverse members in general and gay men employees in particular. My study aims to address this gap by experimentally exploring how leaders can influence and contribute to the inclusion of gay men employees in the workplace. Scholars have argued that since organizational leaders are sometimes by standers to mistreatment, they can be developed into allies trained to intervene, develop and clarify corporate policies targeted to protect gay men employees from workplace mistreatment (Schneider et al., 2017). An article in Harvard Business Review (Thoroughgood et al., 2020), underscored the existence of supportive policies as well as leaders' inclination to model these policies consistently in both words and behavior are essential to reduce discrimination in the workplace. These past findings support that authority figures who model inclusive behaviors consistently contribute to creating a supportive environment for persons who identify as LGBT. Thus, the first objective of my study is to explore whether leaders can be role models and bring positive changes in employees' attitudes and behavior toward gay men employees. Accordingly, as I explain more fully later in this thesis, I test hypotheses grounded in the Social Learning Theory, assessing the trickle-down effect of leaders' support for the inclusion of gay men employees on followers' hiring decisions and attitude towards gay men employees in the workplace².

² Consistent with the definition of attitude towards diversity (coworker) given by Montei et al. (1996), attitude towards gay men employees indicates the extent to which an employee is accepting of gay men as coworkers. In other words, it addresses how an employee feels about working with those who may be unlike themselves with regard to sexual orientation (in this case gay men). An employee with positive attitude towards gay men employees will be more accepting of gay men coworkers in their workplace compared to an employee with negative attitude towards gay men employees.

When leaders are considered advocates of diversity and inclusion, the characteristics of the leader play salient roles with respect to their influence on diversity initiatives (Gardner & Ryan, 2020). Limited research has explored the relationship between leaders' characteristics and workplace diversity and inclusion in general and LGBT in particular. Some researchers have examined the perceived effectiveness of a homosexual leader (relative to a heterosexual leader) by their employees (Wang et al., 2021). However, little work explores the impact of sexual orientation of the leader (i.e., presence of a LGBT leader) on follower's decision to hire, and attitude toward, LGBT employees. To fill this important research void, as I discuss in more detail later in the paper, the second objective of my study is to draw from the concept of in-group favoritism of Social Identity Theory (Tajfel, 1978; Tajfel & Turner, 1979) and explore whether presence of a gay man leader affects followers' hiring decisions and attitudes toward gay men employees in the workplace.

Research conducted on diversity issues underscores that majority-group members (i.e., individuals who belong to groups with greater societal power and advantage) could be more effective (as opposed to minority-group members) in reducing interpersonal discrimination of minorities due to differential perceptions of confronter's self-interest (Czopp & Monteith, 2003; Petty et al., 2001). That is, the minority-group member can be perceived as serving self-interest and, hence, less trustworthy than majority-group member who can be perceived as not serving self-interest. Although such studies have covered crucial topics of racial and gender bias, the subject of sexual orientation diversity has received little consideration. The sexual orientation of the leader can be a prominent characteristic that can influence the said trickle-down effect (i.e., leader's influence trickles down on followers) of the leader's support toward gay men employees.

minority group member (homosexual). Such membership can have a differential impact on the trickle-down effect of leaders' support for the inclusion of gay men employees. Accordingly, as I present in more detail later in the thesis, grounded in the Attributional Analysis of Persuasion (AAP), the third objective of my study is to understand whether a leader's sexual orientation interacts with leader's support for the inclusion of gay men employees with regard to the impact on follower's hiring decisions and attitudes toward gay men employees in the workplace.

Literature Review and Theoretical Background

Concept of LGBT and their Discrimination in the Workplace

The term "LGBT" is frequently used for describing the combined populations of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people. However, such usage conceals the existing differences that distinguish these groups. Lesbian, gay, and bisexual (LGB) individuals are defined in terms of sexual orientation; transgender (T) individuals are described in terms of gender identity. The terms 'lesbian' and 'gay,' also known as female and male homosexuals, refer to people who experience attraction to same-sex members, and the term 'bisexual' refers to people who experience attraction to members of both sexes (Moleiro & Pinto, 2015).

Homophobia can be defined as "an attitude of hostility toward male or female homosexuals" (Borillo, 2001, p. 3). According to United Nations Human Rights Council, deeply-embedded homophobic attitudes of people expose many lesbians, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) people to discrimination in different spheres of life like the labor market, schools, and hospitals. Research involving gay men has documented perceptions of discrimination and victimization experiences in the workplace (Huebner et al., 2004). Gay men are more likely to report discrimination if they are younger and more open about disclosing their

sexual orientation to others (Huebner et al., 2004). Comprehensive field experiments conducted during the past decade have suggested that discrimination remains a barrier for openly gay men job candidates in the labor market (Baert, 2018). The probability of favorable hiring decisions for gay men job candidates decreases significantly when employers are more risk-averse (Baert, 2018). The studies conducted using correspondence experiments (sending fictitious job applications for actual job openings) have consistently indicated hiring discrimination against a gay men. Between 2005 and 2015, such correspondence experiments were conducted in five countries: Sweden, Italy, the United States, Greece, and Cyprus. Gay men job candidates received fewer positive call-backs than equal applicants all five countries. For example, Patacchini et al. (2015) conducted a study in Rome and Milan by sending "fake" CVs to real job ads. The findings indicated that there exists a harsh penalty for gay men applicants as compared to heterosexual men applicants. Gay men applicants had about 30 % less chance to be called back relative to a heterosexual man applicant even when gay men applicants were highly skilled. Tilcsik (2011) conducted the first large-scale audit study of hiring discrimination against openly gay men in seven states of the United States. Overall, heterosexual men applicants had an 11.5% chance of being invited for an interview as opposed to a 7.2% chance of being invited for an interview for an equally qualified gay man applicant. That study also revealed that employers who stressed stereotypically male heterosexual traits (such as decisiveness, assertiveness, and aggressiveness) were particularly likely to discriminate against openly gay men. In Greece, the estimated probability of a gay man applicant receiving an interview invitation was found to be 26.2% less than that for a heterosexual job applicant (Drydakis, 2009). That study also revealed that the discrimination against gay job applicants increased when the employer was male (Drydakis, 2009). In another study conducted in the Cypriot labor market, fictitious gay men job

candidates received fewer positive call-backs (around 72% less) than equally qualified heterosexual men job applicants (Drydakis, 2014). The extent of discrimination against gay men applicants remained unchanged even after adding information about the gay man candidate, which indicates that the discrimination against gay men candidates in the Cypriot labor market can be attributed to employers' preference rather than limited information about the candidate. The study conducted in Sweden by Ahmed et al. (2013) revealed that the probability of receiving a positive response to a job application of a gay man applicant was between 4 and 5% lower than that of a heterosexual male applicant. The authors additionally revealed that hiring discrimination against gay men candidates existed across different occupations, especially in the private sector (Ahmed et al., 2013). Gay men applicants had a 9% lower probability of receiving a positive response relative to a heterosexual male applicants in male-dominated occupations such as construction worker, motor vehicle driver, salesperson, and mechanic worker (Ahmed et al., 2013). Thus, while hiring discrimination against gay men is unacceptable from an ethical perspective and has detrimental psychological and economic repercussions (Baert, 2018), a wealth of research evidence supports that such discrimination exits on a global basis.

Even after being hired, gay men employees experience various forms of bias and exclusion. Previous studies have consistently documented the various kinds of discrimination experienced by gay men employees in the workplace. Broadly speaking, discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation can be classified into formal and informal discrimination (Croteau, 1996). Formal discrimination experienced by gay men includes being fired because of their sexual orientation, career difficulties, barriers concerning promotion, wage inequality between homosexual and heterosexual employees, and exclusion from other benefits (Ozeren, 2014). Informal discrimination involves verbal harassment, homophobic jokes, loss of credibility, non-

acceptance, and lack of respect from co-workers and managers (e.g., not being allowed to bring partners to family events organized by the company) (Ozeren, 2014). An important subcategory of formal discrimination which has been largely explored in econometric studies is the wage inequality between homosexual and heterosexual employees.

Empirical research (Clain & Leppel, 2001; Berg & Lien, 2002; Black et al., 2003; Drydakis, 2012) has consistently shown that the income of gay men is significantly lower than the income of their heterosexual counterparts. Burn (2020) explored the relationship between prejudicial attitudes toward homosexuality and the wages of gay men in the United States by combining data from the General Social Survey and American Community Surveys. Burn (2020) found that prejudicial attitudes toward homosexuality are related to a decrease in the wages of gay men. The author specifically attributed the prejudice-wage relationship to the attitude of managers toward gay men as the data indicated that a one standard deviation increases in the share of the managers in a state who are prejudiced toward homosexuals could lead to a 1.9% decrease in the wages of gay men. Accordingly, the research evidence supports that gay men often receive lower wages than do similar heterosexual males.

Findings of a survey conducted by The Trades Union Congress UK involving more than one thousand LGBT employees revealed evidence of informal discrimination experienced by persons who identify as LGBT in the workplace (Perraudin, 2019). The study, published on the International Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia in 2019, indicated that: (1) approximately 42% of LGBT employees reported experiences of colleagues making unwelcome comments or asking unwelcome questions about their sex life; and (2) more than 25% of LGBT employees surveyed reported receiving unwelcome verbal sexual advances from their colleagues. Many of those who participated in the survey reported longer-term impacts

perpetrated by their experience of sexual harassment at work. More specifically, around 16% of participants reported a debilitating effect on their mental health, and around 16% of participants left their job as a result of being sexually harassed (Perraudin, 2019).

However, research findings are more equivocal for lesbians (Anteby & Anderson, 2014). Previous studies have indicated that lesbians earned more than their heterosexual counterparts in similar positions and that there exists a 'lesbian income advantage' (Black et al., 2003; Arabsheibani et al., 2005). In contrast, Carpenter (2008) found that lesbians earned significantly lower personal income relative to heterosexual women. That study also revealed that lesbians, relative to heterosexual women, experience lower economic well-being, report more distressing harassment at work, have greater difficulty finding jobs, and are more likely to lose jobs. While the preceding information considers wage inequality, research suggests that LGBT employees remain silent as they are vulnerable to mistreatment or discrimination, resulting in 'unheard' and 'missing' voices (Bell et al., 2011).

Moreover, the impact of negative attitudes toward homosexuals and discrimination is concerning, with numerous studies reporting a greater prevalence of depressive and anxiety disorders among lesbians, gays, and bisexuals relative to heterosexuals (Bostwick et al., 2014). Such disparities can be attributed to the stress resulting from prejudice and perceived discrimination (Bostwick et al., 2014). Researchers have documented that gay men experience a higher prevalence of major depression, panic attacks, and symptoms of poor mental health than do heterosexual men (Cochran et al., 2000; King et al., 2003). Researchers have also found a significant association between homosexuality and suicidal ideation (Herrell et al., 1999). Similarly, relative to heterosexual women, lesbians have been found to experience a greater prevalence of generalized anxiety disorder, psychological distress, as well as alcohol and drug

dependency disorders (Cochran et al., 2000; King et al., 2003). Lesbians and gay men have also been found to be more likely to be smokers and resort to substance abuse compared to otherwise similar heterosexuals (Burgess et al., 2008). Regarding workplace outcomes, Ragins and Cornwell (2001) noted that lesbian and gay employees who experienced discriminatory treatment in the workplace are likely to have reduced job satisfaction, organizational commitment and career opportunities. The impact of negative attitudes and discrimination is not limited to the victim. Productivity losses caused by discrimination against gay men and lesbian employees in the workplace represent a serious business outcome for organizations (Ozeren, 2014). Moreover, Wang and Schwarz (2010) found that stock prices of firms with more progressive LGBT non-discrimination policies outperformed otherwise equivalent firms which placed lesser emphasis on LGBT non-discrimination policies.

Coming Out in the Workplace

The term 'coming out' refers to self-disclosure of sexual orientation by an individual (Ozeren, 2014). Self-disclosure of sexual orientation is a complex process and might be considered one of the most salient decisions a lesbian or gay employee can make. Coming out is considered beneficial from the perspective of a lesbian or gay man employee, as extant literature highlights that disclosure of sexual orientation is related to improved affective organizational commitment and job satisfaction, reduced conflicts at work and home, and lower role ambiguity and conflict (Day & Schoenrade, 1997; Griffith & Hebl, 2002). Coming out at work is related to improved confidence, happier work experiences, improved interactions with colleagues, greater productivity, and mental health benefits (Ragins, 2004; Drydakis, 2011).

Nevertheless, coming out also involves risk and coming out at work can result in increased discrimination. For example, individuals who are employed may experience the loss of

perks or work advancement otherwise obtained in their position (Corrigan et al., 2009). In fact, Ozturk (2011) found that the probability of homosexual employees being fired increased once their sexual identity was disclosed.

Thus, the preceding discussion suggests that coming out in the workplace can represent a double-edged sword for gay men employees. The advantages of coming out, like employee attitude and overall productivity, can be overshadowed by discrimination. In this context, it can be argued that leaders can be a powerful resource to tap into the advantages of sexual orientation disclosure by mitigating bias and discrimination through their attitude and actions (Schneider et al., 2017). They can use their leadership role and skills to implement inclusion policies and embrace such policies to change any existing hostile and discriminatory organizational climate (Schneider et al., 2017).

Although discrimination is common for all non-heterosexual sexual orientations (Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual), my study focuses exclusively on one sexual orientation (i.e., gay man) for the following reasons: Firstly, research indicates that the perceived negativity encountered by gay men are worse than that encountered by bisexual individuals as bisexual men are less likely to come out about their orientation and many of them pass as heterosexual (Wandrekar & Nigudkar, 2020). Secondly, a study conducted across 23 countries by Bettinsoli et al. (2020) unveiled that gay men are disliked more relative to lesbians across all countries in that study.

Impact of Leader's Support

Leadership represents a power where one person can influence or change the values, beliefs, behavior, and attitudes of subordinates (Ganta & Manukonda, 2014). Hence, leaders

should demonstrate behavior that enables diminishing discrimination in the workplace (Bobek et al., 2018). If leaders demonstrate the desired behavior, subordinates can be inspired to display and emulate these values in the workplace (Taylor & Pattie, 2014). Consistent with the assumption of a leader's ability to influence a group of individuals toward the achievement of shared goals, research has focused on establishing the link between leader's behaviors that engender positive attitudes and behaviors in employees that promote leadership and, ultimately, organizational effectiveness (Aryee et al., 2007).

The stated influence of a leader's behavior and attitude on subordinates' behavior and attitude can be understood in the context of Social Learning Theory. According to Social Learning Theory (Bandura, 1977), leaders are influential individuals who hold high-level authoritative positions in organizations, which easily makes them role models, and their behaviors are easily learned and imitated by subordinates. In organizations, leaders are important targets for subordinates' observational learning. Hence, leaders' behaviors exert trickle-down effects that introduce similar responses in their followers (Wang et al., 2017). The trickle-down model of leadership states that leaders occupying various organizational levels have a strong influence which trickles down from top managers to immediate supervisors and employees (Ling et al., 2016). Social Learning Theory is the principal theory underlying the trickle-down model and has been applied to a broad range of trickle-down phenomena (Lu et al., 2018). It has been studied in areas like justice perceptions, positive/negative affect, organizational identification, psychological capital, psychological distress, work engagement, and so on (Wang et al., 2015; Li et al., 2016; Lu et al., 2018).

To understand how a leader's attitude and behavior trickles down to subordinates, Ling et al. (2016) studied the trickle-down effect regarding how servant leadership flows from top-to

middle-level leaders and ultimately influences frontline employees' service-oriented behaviors (such as diligence, reliability, honesty, self-management, effective listening, empowering, and directing) and service quality. Based on data collected from 325 employee-supervisor pairs of workgroups in nine Chinese star-level hotels, they concluded that top and middle-level servant leadership positively influences employees' behaviors and performance regarding external customers. Chen et al. (2019) studied the trickle-down effect in the context of leader's pro-social motivations behind the rule violations, known as "Pro-Social Rule Breaking" (PSRB). Morrison (2006) introduced the PSRB to explain rule-breaking that is not motivated by deviant intentions but propelled by the wish to help the organization to meet its objectives. Rule-breaking to perform one's responsibilities more efficiently, help a subordinate or colleague, and provide good customer service can be considered examples of PSRB (Morrison, 2006). The findings of the study conducted by Chen et al. (2019) indicated that leader PSRB is positively related to follower PSRB, and the trickle-down effect is more robust under conditions of high empowering leadership or high courage. Lu et al. (2018) studied whether leader work engagement trickles down to the follower. They collected data from more than 700 employees of Chinese enterprises and unveiled that leader work engagement is positively related to follower work engagement. Lee et al. (2017) studied whether ethical leadership trickles down from high-level leaders to lowlevel leaders. Ethical leadership can be understood as the display of normatively appropriate conduct by the leader and the promotion of such conduct among followers (Brown et al., 2005). Lee et al. (2017) found that ethical leadership of high-level leaders trickles down to low-level leaders, which then reflects itself as desirable employee outcomes in the form of reduced social loafing and improved task performance.

Although considerable research has been directed toward exploring various trickle-down phenomena, Wo et al. (2015) noted that we still have limited knowledge of how this social learning process occurs. They urged more research efforts to explore the social learning process involved in the trickle-down model. My study contributes to finding empirical evidence about a leader's trickle-down effect by exploring it in the context of diversity and inclusion. Based on the preceding discussion, it can be expected that a leader's support for the inclusion of a gay man in the workplace can trickle- down among followers, thereby bringing positive changes in their attitude toward gay men employees and reducing discrimination. If organizational leaders function as allies, they can perform like university faculty and staff who are instrumental in creating safe spaces to offer support to sexual minority students and preclude ominous possibilities of mistreatment (Schneider et al., 2017). Organizational leaders can establish a climate with a particular emphasis on inclusion to reduce discrimination in the workplace (Schneider et al., 2017). Following the assumptions and related empirical evidence, I wished to explore whether a leader's support for the inclusion of a gay men in the workplace can serve as a model behavior and impact follower's decision to hire a gay man in the workplace as well as their attitude toward gay men co-workers. Based on the above arguments, I have proposed the following hypotheses:

 H_1 : Followers' will be more likely to hire a gay man when their leader supports the inclusion of gay men in the workplace compared to when their leader does not support the inclusion of gay men in the workplace.

H₂: Followers' will have a more favorable attitude toward gay men co-workers when their leader supports the inclusion of gay men in the workplace compared to when their leader does not support the inclusion of gay men in the workplace.

Impact of Leader's Sexual Orientation

Although the leadership literature has examined different aspects of diversity, the intersection of sexual orientation and leadership has received limited attention (Chang & Bowring, 2015). While some organizational scholars have begun to explore sexual orientation and leadership issues, their focus has primarily been on how employees perceive sexual minority leaders. For example, homosexual leaders are often victims of followers' sexual prejudice resulting from cultural, societal, and individual stigma toward same-sex individuals (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009; Goodman et al., 2008; Herek, 2008). In our society, heterosexuality is considered as the default sexual orientation and people often presume and prefer heterosexuality in others. These presumptions which influence individual's perceptions of others is known as heteronormativity (Warner, 1991). Unlike heterosexual leaders, homosexual leaders violate the standards of heteronormativity. As such, followers are likely to perceive homosexual leaders as less effective and inferior to stereotypical leaders (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009; Koenig et al., 2011; Sy et al., 2010). Wang et al. (2021) empirically investigated followers' perceptions about homosexual leaders among working adults in the US. They found that homosexual leaders received lower levels of follower perceptions of leadership effectiveness and less follower conformity than heterosexual leaders.

In my study, I seek to expand the knowledge of the intersection of sexual orientation and leadership by exploring the impact of the sexual orientation of a leader on: (1) followers' decision to hire a gay man in the workplace; and (2) their attitude toward their gay men coworkers. I draw from Social Identity Theory to understand the impact of a leader's sexual orientation. Social Identity Theory (Tajfel, 1978; Tajfel & Turner, 1979) posits that individuals define their own identities with regard to social groups, which work to protect and bolster their

self-identity. To create group identities, people categorize themselves and others as in-group and out-group members based on social attributes. Such social attributes can range from ethnic background to gender to nationality to occupation to religion (Everett et al., 2015). These categorizations create a tendency to view one's own group (in-group) with a positive bias as opposed to the out-group. As a consequence, group membership results in favoring one's in-group in many ways, including attitudinally (Turner, 1981).

An intergroup context emerges when social identities are salient, and individuals interact with one another in terms of these social group identities (Turner et al., 1987). Tajfel et al. (1971) explored how social identity influences group members' behavior after the groups are formed. Tajfel et al. (1971) found that group membership yields in-group favoritism—the inclination to respond more favorably to people from the same group (in-group) than to people from other groups (out-groups). The tendency to show in-group favoritism is more pronounced when individuals are threatened or otherwise worried about their self-concept (Maner et al., 2005; Solomon et al., 2000). When individuals feel that the in-group values are being threatened, they respond as if they are trying to regain their self-worth—by expressing more favorable attitudes toward in-groups and more negative attitudes toward out-groups (Branscombe et al., 1993; Spears et al., 1997).

In an intergroup context, leaders are often more strongly associated with one group than the other(s); thus, leaders are in-group members for some people but out-group members for others (Jones et al., 2020). Research suggests that an out-group member's leadership can be considered a threat by an in-group member. Goldman (2017) examined whether Whites perceive Black political leaders as a threat to their group's interests. They used a survey measure and nationally representative panel data from the 2008, 2010, and 2012 US elections. Their findings

revealed that most Whites fear that Black elected officials will engage in racial favoritism (i.e., they are likely to favor Blacks over Whites).

In the same vein, in an organization, a gay man leader can be perceived by the majority as an out-group member, and a straight (heterosexual) leader can be perceived as an in-group member. A gay man leader can be perceived as a threat to the group interest by the majority of employees (straight employees) as the employees might fear that the gay man leader is likely to favor a gay man over heterosexual, or straight, employees. Consistent with the concept of ingroup favoritism, employees are likely to express more positive attitudes toward straight employees (in-group members) and more negative attitudes toward gay men employees (outgroup members). I believe that this negative attitude can be expressed in terms of hiring discrimination toward a gay man and a negative attitude toward gay men co-workers. Therefore, I propose the following hypotheses:

H₃: Followers' will be less likely to hire a gay man when their leader is a gay man compared to when their leader is a heterosexual man.

H₄: Followers' will have a less favorable attitude toward gay men co-workers when their leader is a gay man compared to when their leader is a heterosexual man.

The Interaction of Leader's Support and Leader's Sexual Orientation

The social learning process may not always work effectively, implying that the cascading influence from leader to follower is contingent upon many factors, such as the characteristics of the leader and the observer (Bandura, 1977). Prior studies have mainly explored the impact of characteristics of the subordinates' on the trickle-down process (Li & Sun, 2015; Yang et al.,

2010). However, how the characteristics of the leader can impact the trickle-down effect in different situations has received limited attention.

In my study, the leader's sexual orientation has been considered a characteristic feature of the leader, which can influence the trickle-down effect of the leader's attitude and behavior toward gay men employees on followers. Sexual orientation is a part of individual identity that can be defined as "a person's sexual and emotional attraction to another person and the behavior and/or social affiliation that may result from this attraction" (APA, 2015a, p. 862). The assumed interaction effect of a leader's sexual orientation and their support toward gay men employees on attitude and behavior change of followers regarding gay men employees could be viewed through the lens of Attributional Analysis of Persuasion (AAP). According to AAP (Eagly & Chaiken, 1975; Eagly et al., 1978), a perceiver makes meaningful causal inferences regarding potential reasons for which a communicator is advocating a particular position. It holds that message expectancy plays a crucial role in perceiver persuasion, such that when a communicator supports a less expected position as related to the communicator's characteristics and situational pressures, persuasion is more likely as the perceiver will strongly infer that the message corresponds to reality (Eagly & Chaiken, 1975). On the other hand, when a communicator advocates for an expected position, particularly one which entails personal benefits for the communicator (i.e., has a self-interest), persuasion is less likely as perceivers doubt the communicator's honesty (Priester & Petty, 1995) and bias (Eagly et al., 1978).

Previous studies have used the AAP framework to investigate diversity issues. Consistent with the tenets of AAP, Gardner and Ryan (2020) found that diversity promoters who demographically belonged to the same group for which they were advocating were perceived as more self-interested than those who demographically belonged to a different group. In the same

study, they found that White promoters were perceived as less self-interested than Black promoters of a diversity initiative, and as a result, White promoters garnered more positive attitudes and support for the promoted effort. In another study, Petty et al. (2001) conducted an experiment in which essays written by first-generation Black students were used. In these essays, the first-generation Black students either advocated for a new scholarship that can benefit racial minorities (i.e., perceived as serving self-interest) or for a new scholarship that can help children of alumni (i.e., not perceived as serving self-interest). The participants read the essays. The students who wrote essays that cannot be perceived as serving self-interest (i.e., for a new scholarship that can benefit children of alumni) were rated as more trustworthy as compared to students who wrote essays that can be perceived as serving self-interest (i.e., for a new scholarship that can benefit children of alumni) were rated as more trustworthy as compared to students who wrote essays that can be perceived as serving self-interest (i.e., for a new

Based on the preceding discussion, it can be argued that a gay man leader who is supporting gay men employees in the workplace may be perceived as operating from an area of self-interest as they belong to the same group of diversity (the minority group) whose inclusion they are supporting in the workplace. On the other hand, inclusive actions of a heterosexual leader (an individual who experiences attraction to opposite-sex members) will not be perceived as serving self-interest as they do not belong to the diversity group whose inclusion they are supporting in the workplace. Consequently, gay men leaders, relative to heterosexual leaders, may prove less effective as models of social learning with regard to the inclusion of gay men workers. Thus, based on the tenets of AAP, support from a heterosexual leader, versus a homosexual (gay man) leader, can be assumed to induce more positive changes in the attitude and behavior of employees concerning gay men workers. Consequently, I hypothesize the following

 H_5 : Leader's sexual orientation will interact with leader's support for the inclusion of gay men to influence follower's decision to hire a gay man, such that followers will be more likely to hire a gay man when they perceive support for inclusion from a heterosexual man leader than when they perceive support for inclusion from a gay man leader.

 H_6 : Leader's sexual orientation will interact with leader's support for the inclusion of gay men to influence follower's attitude toward gay men co-workers, such that followers will be more likely to have a favorable attitude toward gay men co-workers when they perceive support for inclusion from a heterosexual man leader than when they perceive support for inclusion from a gay man leader.

Method

The topic of sexual orientation is often considered as a sensitive topic (Tourangeau, 2007). Owing to the sensitivity of the topic, I followed an experimental vignette methodology (i.e., scenario-based experiment) to test the hypotheses under investigation, as recommended by Aguinis and Bradley (2014). The experimental vignette methodology makes it feasible for us to test causal effects while addressing ethical dilemmas (Aguinis & Bradley, 2014). In the present study, I have used what is referred to as a "Paper People" experimental vignettes in that participants were given vignettes in written form and then they responded to the questionnaire (Aguinis & Bradley, 2014). The experiment followed a 2 x 2 design: leader's support condition (supportive or non-supportive) x leader's sexual orientation (gay man leader or heterosexual man leader). Participants were randomly assigned to conditions. Each participant read one of the four scenarios and then they had to complete a questionnaire. My study was completed in two stages: a pilot study and the main study. Ethics approval was obtained for both pilot and main study

from Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR). More details on the pilot and main study follow.

Pilot Study

I conducted the pilot study to check the manipulations and to confirm the time to be given to the participants for the main study. I recruited Undergraduate students of Memorial University of Newfoundland through the University's Business Research Experience Pool (BREP). My final sample for the pilot study consisted of 18 Undergraduate students (female = 12, male = 6). The average age of the participants of the pilot study was 24.39 years. The procedure delineated below was same for pilot and main study except that pilot study participants: (i) were given 45 minutes to complete the entire procedure, and (ii) they were given one credit point toward their Business course per hour of participation in the study as the honorarium/compensation. The participants of the pilot study used the same scenarios and completed the same measures as described below. Since the number of participants in the pilot study was only 18, the reliability (Cronbach's alphas) of the measures used was not calculated. The average time taken by the pilot study participants was 12.44 minutes. With respect to manipulations, all participants could answer the first two manipulation check questions correctly (i.e., sexual orientation of David, and the name of Peter's spouse). In the pilot study, to ensure that I have successfully manipulated leader's support for inclusion of gay men in the workplace, I asked participants whether Peter (the leader) had a favorable attitude toward gay people in the workplace. Participants had to select one of the following options: (a) Yes (b) No (c) I don't know. However, 8 out of 18 participants answered the question incorrectly. Owing to the high error rate, I reframed the question (as discussed in the measures for the main study) for the main study as the word favorable attitude can be open to different interpretations.

Participants

I recruited participants through Prolific (https://www.prolific.co/), which is supported by Isis Innovation, part of the University of Oxford, and is primarily suitable for researchers and startups (Peer et al., 2017). I used online panel data as such data allows researchers a convenient way to reach a large pool of participants while keeping costs to a minimum (Buhrmester et al., 2011). Additionally, online panel platforms give researchers access to sample participants from different countries across the globe, facilitating increasingly representative samples (Gleibs, 2017; Goodman & Paolacci, 2017). The increased anonymity online panel platforms offer also makes them ideal for researchers to collect data on sensitive topics participants might be reluctant to report (Porter et al., 2019). Specifically, I have chosen Prolific for this study as empirical evidence suggests Prolific participants reported higher naivety than MTurk participants and showed lower degrees of dishonest behavior relative to MTurk participants (Peer et al., 2017). The composition of the Prolific sample pool allowed me to avoid using a student population or participants from a single country or single organization. Only full-time employed adults from across the globe were included in the main study. The main sample excluded pilot study participants.

A total of 170 working adults were recruited through Prolific to take part in my study. The participants were recruited across the globe, contributing to the generalizability of the findings. Even though the sample specified for online panel data was full-time employed adults, seven participants answered that they were not employed full-time at present. Hence, their data were removed. A further six participants decided to withdraw from the study after giving their responses. Note that the option to withdraw after reading the feedback form (i.e., after completing the study) were given to participants as per guidance from Memorial University's

Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR). Their data were also removed. Panel data studies often include attention check questions (Porter et al., 2019). Participants had to pass two attention check items to be included in the final data set to decrease the chances of careless responses. The quality control items ("For this question kindly mark Strongly agree as your response" and "for this question kindly mark True option as your response") were randomly introduced in different places in the survey. Three participants failed the attention check questions and their data were removed from the final data. Five participants answered first two manipulation check questions (asked after the participants read the vignette) incorrectly. Of this five, two could not answer the first manipulation check question, i.e., they could not correctly identify the sexual orientation of David (an important gay man character of the scenario). Three participants could not recognize the name of the spouse of the leader, which I asked as a way to confirm if the participants correctly perceived the sexual orientation of the leader (Peter) in their assigned vignette. Thus, their data were removed from the final data set. Thus, the final data constituted 149 respondents. To see if the excluded and included participants differed in some systematic way, I examined all the available demographic information. The excluded participants did not differ significantly from the included participants with regard to age, gender, highest educational degree completed, and full-time work experience. Thus, I see no evidence that these groups differed systematically.

Out of the final 149 respondents, 52.3% of the respondents were female (n = 78), and 47.7% of the respondents were male (n = 71). The average age of the respondents was 30.44 years (SD = 8.97). The average level of full-time work experience of respondents was 3.66 years (SD = 4.91). With regard to educational qualifications of respondents, 45% completed a Bachelor's degree, 10.7% completed a College Diploma, 17.4% completed High School, 22.8%

completed a Master's, and 4% completed a Ph.D. Respondents were distributed across 17 countries, with majority from South Africa (23.5%), Poland (18.1%), Mexico (18.3%), Portugal (16.8%), and Greece (6%), respectively.

Variables

The independent variables included in my study are the leader's support for the inclusion of gay men employees in the workplace and the leader's sexual orientation. The independent variables were manipulated using written vignettes. The dependent variables included in my study are employee's hiring decisions with regard to gay men employees and employee's attitudes toward gay men co-workers.

As a potential control variable, I included Social Desirability Bias (SDB). SDB can result from social norms and can elicit a socially preferred positive or negative response (Larson, 2019). It has affected experimental findings in the past, especially findings of the study concerning sensitive issues like illicit drug use, alcohol consumption, smoking, abortion, racist attitude, etc. (Larson, 2019). A survey concerning attitude toward sexual orientation can be perceived as a sensitive issue and is susceptible to SDB. According to Coffman et al. (2017), SDB can influence an individual's reporting of attitude toward LGBT. In their study concerning opinions about sexual orientation, they found evidence that people tend to underreport anti-gay sentiment even under anonymous and very private conditions.

I included demographics (i.e., age, gender, employment in a full-time job at present, tenure of full-time employment, highest educational degree completed, and country of residence) in order to gather some descriptive information about the participants.

Procedure

The main study followed a 2 (Leader's support: supportive or non-supportive) $\times 2$ (Leader's sexual orientation: gay man leader or straight man leader) between-subjects factorial design. Participants were randomly assigned to conditions. The design yielded four experimental conditions, and for each condition a vignette was prepared. These vignettes are presented in Appendix A. Leader's support (supportive or non-supportive) for inclusion of gay men employees was demonstrated using three elements: (i) leader either encouraged or discouraged a gay man employee from bringing their partner to a social event, (ii) leader either encouraged or discouraged employees to equally treat gay men and straight employees in a recruitment drive, and (iii) leader equally or differentially treated a gay man employee (relative to other employees in the department) for not being able to meet a deadline. I have included the three elements based on my personal assessment of available literature on discrimination of gay men in the workplace. Consistent with prior research (e.g., Wang et al., 2021; Štrbić et al., 2019), I manipulated leaders' sexual orientation using the typical gender-specific first name (i.e., Peter), corresponding normative pronoun (his/her), how their spouse is related to them (husband or wife) and their spouses' first names (i.e., Paula or Michael). The names included in the vignette were obtained from google search of masculine and feminine names.

Consistent with previous research (e.g., Wang et al., 2021; Clarke et al., 2016) the participants were instructed to imagine that they were the main character in the scenario, referred to as "you." It was made clear in the passage that the leader holds a high position in the organizational hierarchy. The first half of each scenario was identical and comprised a general description of the department, job profile, participant's employment situation, and information about a gay man character in the department (David). The second half of the vignette comprised

information about the leader's sexual orientation and leader's support (Supportive or Nonsupportive) for the inclusion of gay man in the workplace.

Participants experienced the study as follows. First, they were directed to Qualtrics and provided with a consent form. Second, consent was provided anonymously by the participants by choosing 'Accept' answer at the end of the consent form. Those who consented to the study after reading the consent form, were then provided a demographic questionnaire. Third, participants were randomly assigned to one of the four experimental conditions. Fourth, they received the appropriate vignette for their randomly assigned experimental condition. Fifth, after reading the assigned vignette, participants were asked to answer the manipulation check questions. Sixth, they were provided the questionnaire that measured: hiring decisions, attitude toward gay men co-workers, and social desirability bias. Finally, participants were presented with the debriefing form. Participants were given a £2.50 honorarium (around 3.20 USD) for completing the survey. The honorarium was decided based on the standard pricing guidelines ("good" hourly-rate) of Prolific.

Measures

Manipulation Checks. To verify that participants correctly remembered the manipulations, I asked the following manipulation check questions. Since 'David' was a primary gay man character in the scenario and the leader's support (supportive or non-supportive) for the inclusion of gay men was depicted in terms of his reaction toward David, it was important for participants to understand the sexual orientation of David. Accordingly, participants reported whether the David was (a) Homosexual (Gay), (b) Heterosexual (Straight), or (c) the participant did not know. To ensure I have successfully manipulated leader's sexual orientation (homosexual or heterosexual), participants were asked to select the name of the spouse of the leader (Note: the

name of the leader was Peter in all the vignettes). Participants had to select one of the following options: (a) Paula (b) Michael (c) Gary (d) Gloria. To ensure I have successfully manipulated leader's support for the inclusion of gay men in the workplace, I asked participants to rate the extent to which they find the leader (Peter) has a supportive attitude toward (and is inclusive of) gay men in the workplace on a 5-point scale (1= strongly disagree and 5=strongly agree). The manipulation check questions were crafted after reviewing the manipulation check questions used in other vignette studies like Štrbić et al. (2019), Clarke and Arnold (2018), and Clarke et al. (2016).

Demographic Questionnaire. Here I included questions on age, gender, highest educational degree completed, whether employed in a full-time job at present, and total work experience of the participant.

Hiring Decision. To measure the hiring decision of followers about gay men workers, I used the three items hiring index used by Rudman and Glick (2001). The scale was adapted to reflect the job central to the vignettes, namely, the job of Content Manager. Participants indicated on three items ranging from 1 (not at all likely) to 5 (extremely likely). A high score indicates a positive or favorable hiring decision. A sample item for this scale is, "Would you personally hire a gay man applicant for the job of a Content Manager in your organization (Smart resources Inc.)?" Cronbach's alpha for the hiring index scale was found to be reliable ($\alpha = .84$).

Attitude toward Gay Men Co-workers. To measure employee's attitude toward gay men co-workers, the ten-item co-worker subscale of Attitudes toward Diversity Scale (ATDS) (Montei et al., 1996) was used. The subscale measures an employee's attitude toward having coworkers who are a minority and their feelings about working with demographically different employees. The subscale was adapted to measure employees' attitudes toward gay men. The

participant rated each item on a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. The scale also included a reverse-scored item which was recoded. A high score on the co-worker subscale suggests a positive attitude toward diversity in the workplace; whereas, a low score suggests a negative attitude toward diversity in the workplace. A sample item is: "The most qualified workers seem to be heterosexual men." The Cronbach's alpha for the attitude toward gay men co-workers was found to be reliable ($\alpha = .78$).

Social Desirability Bias. To measure the control variable of Social Desirability Bias, I used the 13 items on the Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability – Short Form (Reynolds, 1982). Respondents indicate whether each statement is 'True' or 'False' concerning their personal attitudes and traits. The scale also included reverse-scored items that were recoded as appropriate prior to any analysis such that a high score indicates a social desirability response tendency. The 13 items were then summed to calculate the total score, such that a high score on the scale suggests greater proclivity of the participant to give socially desirable responses. Cronbach's alpha for the Social Desirability scale was .69. Thus, the Cronbach's alpha was found to be just below the generally accepted level of .70. As dropping any items from the scale did not bolster the reliability of the scale, and as this scale has been used extensively in previous studies where it was found to be reliable (e.g., Fischer & Fick, 1993; Sârbescu et al., 2012; Lavidas & Gialamas, 2019), the full 13-item scale was kept for all subsequent analysis.

Results

Analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS 27. Two-tailed Pearson correlations for the study variables can be found in **Table 1.1.** Descriptive statistics for the dependent variables can be found in **Table 1.2.** Social Desirability Bias was not significantly correlated (shown in Table 1.1) with any of our study variables (p > .05). ANOVAs were run to see whether there are any

significant differences between the conditions in terms of participants' age and level of education. ANOVA failed to detect significant differences by condition (p > .05) suggesting that groups were equivalent with respect to age and level of education. Additionally, 2 (Supportive leader or Non-supportive leader) x 2 (gay man leader or heterosexual man leader) analysis of variance (ANOVA) on participant's Social Desirability Bias was conducted. The two-way analysis of variance on participants' Social Desirability Bias did not detect a main effect of leaders' support for the inclusion of gay men in the workplace, F(1, 145) = .546, p = .461, partial eta² = .004). Moreover, the main effect of leader's sexual orientation was also not significant, F(1, 145) = .359, p = .550, partial eta² = .002). Hence, I did not include Social Desirability Bias as a covariate in the analyses.

To verify the manipulation of leader's support for the inclusion of gay men employees in the workplace, I conducted an independent samples t-test comparing ratings on the job leader's support for the inclusion of gay men employees in the workplace item across the two conditions: (i) Supportive Leader, and (ii) Non-supportive Leader. The test confirmed that I had successfully manipulated leader's support for the inclusion of gay men employees in the workplace [t(147) = 28.601, p =.000]. Examination of the means (M=1.26 and M=4.68 for the Non-supportive leader and Supportive leader conditions, respectively) reveals that participants were significantly more likely to perceive the leader's support for inclusion of gay men in Supportive leader condition as opposed to Non-supportive leader condition.

(Insert Table 1.1 from Appendix B here)

(Insert Table 1.2 from Appendix B here)

Hypotheses 1, 3, and 5 were tested by employing a 2 (Supportive leader or Nonsupportive leader) x 2 (gay man leader or heterosexual man leader) analysis of variance (ANOVA) on followers' decision to hire a gay man. The findings of the analysis of variance (ANOVA) are summarized in **Table 2.1**. Hypothesis 1 predicted that the followers would be more likely to hire a gay man when their leader supports the inclusion of gay men in the workplace compared to when their leader does not support the inclusion of gay men in the workplace. As shown in **Table 2.1**, ANOVA on followers' decision to hire a gay man reveals a significant main effect of leaders' support for inclusion of gay men in the workplace, F(1, 145) =7.008, p = .009, partial eta² = .046. Examination of the means provided in **Table 2.2**, indicates that participants in the Supportive leader condition (M=13.35, SD = 2.34) are more likely to hire a gay man than the participants in the Non-supportive leader condition (M=12.23, SD = 2.79). Thus, Hypothesis 1 was supported.

Hypothesis 3 predicted that the followers will be less likely to hire a gay man when their leader is a gay man compared to when their leader is a heterosexual man. As shown in **Table 2.1**, there was a significant main effect for sexual orientation, F(1, 145) = 7.586, p = .007, partial eta² = .050. Examination of the means provided in **Table 2.2**, revealed that participants in the gay man leader condition (M=12.18, SD = 2.71) were less likely to hire a gay man than the participants in the Heterosexual man leader condition (M=13.35, SD = 2.44). Thus, Hypothesis 3 was supported.

Hypothesis 5 predicted Leader's sexual orientation will interact with leader's support for the inclusion of gay men to influence follower's decision to hire a gay man, such that followers will be more likely to hire a gay man when they perceive support for inclusion from a heterosexual man leader than when they perceive support for inclusion from a gay man leader.

As shown in **Table 2.1**, the two-way interaction of Leader's support and Leader's sexual orientation on followers' decision to hire a gay man was not significant, F(1, 145) = .023, p = .879, partial eta² = .000. Thus, Hypothesis 5 was not supported.

(Insert Table 2.1 from Appendix B here)

(Insert Table 2.2 from Appendix B here)

Hypotheses 2, 4, and 6 were tested employing 2 (Supportive leader or Non-supportive leader) x 2 (gay man leader or heterosexual man leader) ANOVA on followers' attitudes toward gay men co-workers. The findings are summarized in **Table 3.1**. Hypothesis 2 predicted that followers' will have more favorable attitude toward gay men co-workers when their leader supports the inclusion of gay men in the workplace compared to when their leader does not support the inclusion of gay men in the workplace. As shown in **Table 3.1**, a two-way ANOVA did not detect a main effect for leaders' support for inclusion of gay men in the workplace, F(1, 145) = 0.372, p = .543, partial eta² = .003. Thus, Hypothesis 2 was not supported.

Hypothesis 4 predicted that followers' will have less favorable attitude toward gay men co-workers when their leader is a gay man compared to when their leader is a heterosexual man. As shown in **Table 3.1**, a two-way ANOVA revealed a main effect for leaders' sexual orientation, F(1,145) = 6.534, p =.012, partial eta² = .043. Examination of the means provided in **Table 3.2**, revealed that participants in the gay man leader condition (M=39.85, SD = 6.88) have a less favorable attitude toward gay men co-workers than the participants in the Heterosexual man leader condition (M=42.56, SD = 5.96). Thus, Hypothesis 4 was supported.

Hypothesis 6 predicted leader's sexual orientation will interact with leader's support for the inclusion of gay men to influence follower's attitude toward gay men co-workers, such that followers will be more likely to have a favorable attitude toward gay men co-workers when they perceive support for inclusion from a heterosexual man leader than when they perceive support for inclusion from a gay man leader. As shown in **Table 3.1**, the two-way interaction of Leader's support and Leader's sexual orientation on followers' attitude toward gay men co-workers was not significant, F(1, 145) = .011, p = .917, partial eta² = .000. Thus, Hypothesis 6 was not supported.

(Insert Table 3.1 from Appendix B here)

(Insert Table 3.2 from Appendix B here)

Discussion

For at least the last 50 years, social scientists have sought to understand the psychological and social factors contributing to individuals' attitudes toward sexual minorities (Steffens & Wagner, 2004; Bettinsoli et al., 2020). However, most of the research work has been conducted in North America and Western Europe (Bettinsoli et al., 2020). Given the well-established trends concerning discrimination and prejudice towards a sexual minority, in many countries around the world, employers are striving to create inclusive workplace culture (Vohra et al., 2015). Thus, it is important to know how leaders can influence followers' attitudes toward sexual minorities in the workplace using a global sample. Despite extensive research concerning attitude toward sexual minorities in the workplace context, much of the existing research examines hiring discrimination (e.g., Ahmed et al., 2013; Drydakis, 2014), the nature of workplace discrimination (e.g., Cochran et al., 2000; Ragins & Cornwell, 2001). There is still much to learn about how a leader can influence follower's attitude and actions toward sexual

minority. My study contributes to scholarship through an application of Social Learning Theory, Social Identity Theory, and Attributional Analysis of Persuasion theory to provide a step forward in developing a deeper understanding of the leader's influence on follower's attitude and actions toward sexual minority in the workplace context.

Grounded in the Social Learning Theory (Bandura, 1977), the first objective of my study was to examine whether leader's support (or lack of support) for the inclusion of gay men employees influences followers' hiring decisions of gay men employees and their attitudes toward gay men employees in the workplace. The result of Hypothesis 1 suggests that when the leader supports the inclusion of gay men employees in the workplace, their followers are more likely to hire gay men employees in their organization as opposed to when their leaders are nonsupportive. Perhaps future research, with a larger sample, will provide support for Hypothesis 2.

The significant finding related to Hypothesis 1 is consistent with the tenets of Social Learning Theory which posits that in organizations leader's behaviors are easily learned and imitated by subordinates as leaders' behaviors exert trickle-down effects that introduce similar responses in their followers (Wang et al., 2017). Previous research evidence has consistently shown how the trickle-down effect works in the domain of servant leadership (Ling et al., 2016), pro-social motivations behind the rule violations (Chen et al., 2019), work engagement (Lu et al., 2018), and ethical conduct (Lee et al., 2017). Findings of those past studies support the notion that a leader's attitude and behavior are imitated by followers in different aspects of work life. However, research examining the social learning process in the domain of inclusion of sexual minority in the workplace was parsimonious. The findings of my study provide fresh evidence regarding how the support (toward the inclusion of gay men employees) expressed by the leader

in attitude and behavior can trickle down to followers and can result in their positive attitude toward hiring gay men workers and positive attitude toward their gay men co-workers.

The second objective of my study was to explore whether the sexual orientation of the leader (heterosexual man leader or gay man leader) influences followers' hiring decisions related to gay men employees and their attitudes toward gay men employees in the workplace. My study explored the impact of leader's sexual orientation based on the concept of in-group favoritism in Social Identity Theory (Tajfel, 1978; Tajfel & Turner, 1979). The result of Hypothesis 3 suggests that when a leader is a gay man, followers are less likely to hire gay men employees in their organization as opposed to when their leader is a heterosexual man. Similarly, the results of Hypothesis 4 suggest that when a leader is a gay man, followers are less likely to have positive attitudes toward their gay men co-workers relative to when their leader is a heterosexual man. These findings are consistent with the notion of in-group favoritism increasing when individuals feel that the in-group values are being threatened (Branscombe et al., 1993; Spears et al., 1997). This is also reflective of previous findings by Goldman (2017), who found that Whites perceive Black political leaders as a threat to their group's interests and that most Whites fear that Black elected officials will engage in racial favoritism. Moreover, my study reveals how the presence of an out-group leader (a gay man leader) can result in increased in-group favoritism and outgroup discrimination in the hiring context and attitude toward an out-group (gay man) co-worker context. The findings can be further attributed to the fact that a gay man leader violates standards of heteronormativity which are often attached to leadership positions (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009; Goodman et al., 2008; Herek, 2008). Consequently, gay men leaders are not viewed favorably by heterosexual followers (Wang et al., 2021). Violation of heteronormative norms by a gay man leader (out-group member) can be perceived by heterosexual followers as a threat to

their in-group values. Consequently, they might respond as if they are trying to regain their selfworth by expressing more negative attitudes toward out-group members (Branscombe et al., 1993; Spears et al., 1997). The negative attitude can reflect itself in terms of discrimination during hiring and attitude toward a co-worker (from the same out-group), as established by the findings of my study. As such, my study advances the impact of the sexual orientation of the leader literature by linking it with Social Identity Theory, specifically broadening the concept of in-group favoritism under threats in the workplace.

Grounded in the Attributional Analysis of Persuasion (AAP), my study's third objective was to understand whether a leader's sexual orientation interacts with leader's support for the inclusion of gay men employees with regard to the impact on follower's hiring decisions and attitudes toward gay men employees in the workplace. The results of Hypotheses 5 and 6 suggest that there is no significant interaction effect between leader's sexual orientation and leader's support for the inclusion of gay men employees as it relates to the impact on follower's hiring decisions and attitudes toward gay men employees in the workplace. This finding is not consistent with the AAP framework, in which previous research findings suggest that diversity promoters who demographically belonged to the same group for which they were advocating were perceived as more self-interested than those who demographically belonged to a different group, and as a result, garnered less positive attitudes and support for the promoted effort than those who demographically belonged to a different group (Gardner & Ryan, 2020). One potential explanation for the inconsistency between my study's findings and those of Gardner and Ryan (2020) may be a result of differences in the measurement of positive attitude. While Gardner and Ryan (2020) considered a positive attitude with respect to participants' support (including financial support) in the context of acceptance of proposals regarding diversity initiatives

employees would like the organization to pursue, my study considers a positive attitude in the context of hiring and attitude toward co-workers. Moreover, methodologically, unlike my study which only used written descriptions of leaders who were either supporting or not supporting diversity, Gardner and Ryan (2020) used visual cues (pictures) of diversity promoters along with their descriptions which can be expected to have a greater impact on participants' response.

Implications for Scholarship and Practice

This thesis has a number of implications for scholarship and practice. The findings provide initial evidence of how leader's attitude and behavior toward gay men employees can influence followers' attitude toward gay men employees. The findings suggest that leader's attitude and behavior trickle down to the follower level and thereby can influence followers' attitude toward gay men employees. Thus, it contributes to the existing literature of Social Learning Theory (Bandura, 1977) by exploring it in the domain of workplace diversity and inclusion, specifically, for the first time to my knowledge, with respect to sexual minority inclusion. The findings indicate how organizations can go a step beyond the adoption of diversity and inclusion policies and leverage the influence of leadership positions to bring about positive changes in employees' attitude toward gay men employees in particular and sexual minorities in general. The findings are consistent with the argument that organizational leaders can be developed into allies who can contribute significantly to protection of gay employees from workplace mistreatment (Schneider et al., 2017) and that leader's tendency to model inclusive policies consistently (in both words and behavior) are essential to reduce discrimination in the workplace (Thoroughgood et al., 2020).

The findings of my study also aid our understanding of how the sexual orientation (gay man or heterosexual man) of the leader can impact followers' hiring decision and attitude toward gay men co-workers. The empirical evidence provided by my study may speak to the reason why the sexual orientation of the leader has a detrimental effect on followers' hiring decision and attitude toward co-workers who has the same sexual orientation as the leader. The findings contribute to the literature on in-group favoritism and out-group discrimination instilled in the concept of social identity (Tajfel, 1978; Tajfel & Turner, 1979) by exploring them in the context of sexual diversity. Specifically, my study indicates that when the leader is an out-group member (namely, a gay man), heterosexual employees (in-group members) might be guided by the perceived threat that the gay man leader (an out-group member) is likely to favor a gay man over the heterosexual employees. Consistent with the findings of Goldman (2017) the said threat perceived by the in-group member (in this case heterosexual employees) has been suggested as a potential explanation for increased discrimination of out-group members (gay men employees) by heterosexual employees.

The findings of my study offer meaningful insights for organizations seeking to reduce discrimination and promote an inclusive work environment for sexual minority workers (such as gay men employees). Organizational policies to attract, retain and support gay men employees are important for creating inclusive workplaces. However, inclusive policies become more relevant when the leaders model these policies in words and behavior. A leader's adherence to the notion of inclusion and related policies can be expressed in terms of supportive actions directed toward gay men workers, which in turn can percolate down to followers and influence their attitudes and behaviors. Managers might lack the skill and confidence to manage a diverse workforce. Management development programs with emphasis on managing a diverse

workforce, such as equal opportunities awareness training, can help managers acquire the required skill and confidence to manage diversity effectively (McPherson, 2009). Because prejudices are considered the main cause of discrimination, many organizations have developed training programs geared toward reducing prejudices (Tisserant et al., 2013). Empirical evidence suggests successful transfer of diversity training in the workplace (e.g., Majumdar et al., 2004; Roberson et al., 2009). Hence, to increase the effectiveness of gay man-inclusive workplaces, organizations should focus on training the leaders. Sensitizing the leaders about the kind of prejudice and discrimination faced by gay men employees during hiring and in regular work-life from co-workers may be the first step taken by organizations to create awareness. Hence, such issues should be an integral part of diversity training programs. The leaders should be trained to control bias pertaining to sexual orientation while recruiting employees and treating all their coworkers equally. Subsequently, following up with leaders about their learning in diversity training programs and reinforcing their gay man-inclusive behavior and actions can stabilize the expected support from leaders. The support generated among top leaders can gradually trickle down to middle level and lower-level employees and gradually bring constructive changes to the organization as a whole. In this way, the findings of my study can be used to add another dimension (besides policies) to improve organizational readiness to be more inclusive of gaymen workers.

In addition to current leaders, it is vital to equip future leaders with adequate awareness and skills concerning gay men workers. Future leaders or students pursuing management degrees are more likely to work with gay-men employees as co-workers and leaders. Hence, including academic lessons on sensitizing students on bias faced by gay men employees during hiring and

discrimination from heterosexual co-workers can lay the foundation of good leadership, which can further be nurtured by diversity training in their future organizations.

Moreover, findings related to the impact of leader's sexual orientation suggest that it is likely that because of their non-prototypical sexual orientation, a gay man leader can be perceived as an out-group member which may negatively influence followers' hiring decision of gay men employees and their attitude toward gay men co-workers. As organizations seek to increase representation of historically under-represented groups in leadership positions, gay men leaders should be aware of how their actions can be interpreted and ensure their actions are not suggestive of favoritism toward other gay men followers. Given that backlash toward diversity initiatives (Kidder et al., 2004), including those that focus on sexual minorities (Hill, 2009), are well documented in the literature, organizations should examine if any insights from that literature can help in this regard.

Limitations and Future Research

My study has several limitations. In my study I have used an experimental design to understand the relationship between the concerned variables. The design of my study paved the way for making causal inferences. However, the downside of an experimental design is its low external validity. In other words, the generalizability of the findings of experimental research needs further investigation using a non-experimental or an alternate experimental approach (Wang et al., 2021). Future research can adopt a longitudinal approach to understand the impact of leader's inclusion attitudes on followers over time. However, given the sensitive nature of the topic, a non-experimental investigation of impact of leader's support for the inclusion of gay men employees and leader's sexual orientation may prove difficult.

Another limitation of my study is related to the experimental conditions. The independent variable of leader's support for the inclusion of gay man had two levels (i) supportive and (ii) non-supportive. The non-supportive level included information where the leader was discriminating against the gay man employee in the given scenario. The introduction of another level of the independent variable where the leader is neutral (i.e., neither supportive nor nonsupportive) toward gay men employees could have facilitated a better comparative analysis. Future research can include a neutral condition while examining leader's support for inclusion. Besides, the independent variable of leader's sexual orientation had two levels (i) gay man leader and (ii) straight man leader (heterosexual man leader). I did not include a straight woman leader (heterosexual woman leader). Heterosexual man leader can still be an in-group member to gay men based on gender identity. Heterosexual women leader, on the other hand, would be completely out-group member to gay men. Hence, future studies can include heterosexual women leaders (supportive or non-supportive) to assess their impact on followers' hiring decision and followers' attitude towards gay men employees. Additionally, future research can explore the number of sexual minority individuals required for in-group followers (heterosexual individuals) to feel threatened and discriminate out-group members (sexual minorities) in the workplace.

Moreover, future research can explore impact of leader's support for sexual minorities inclusion in the context of different industries or occupation. According to Social Learning Theory, industries and occupations can become both numerically (actual) and normatively (cultural) gendered and, hence, job requirements can be perceived as masculine or feminine (Hancock et al., 2020). Such perception can have an impact of participants' response which can be also explored in future research.

As far as the participants' response to hiring a gay man employee is concerned, they were asked to make a hiring decision with regard to potential gay men employees in general. I could have used standardized equivalent resumes (one for a potential heterosexual man employee and another for a potential gay man employee) for specific job positions to gain better insight into participants' decision with respect to hiring potential gay men employees. Future research can use such standardized equivalent resumes for a sample of job positions.

My study considers only one slice of sexual minority (i.e., gay men employees). Future research can take into consideration the impact of leader's support for the inclusion of the broader LGBT community such as lesbian, bisexual, and transgender employees who might be facing different challenges in terms of being hired or discrimination in the workplace. For example, the International Labour Organisation (ILO) (2017), a specialized United Nations agency, stated that transgender candidates face the highest discrimination in employment. Transgender individuals are perceived as an anomaly and receive a reception that is characterized by othering and marginalization, which puts transgender job candidates in a disadvantageous position in the process of recruitment and selection (Ozturk & Tatli, 2016). Moreover, extant literature shows that contact with members of the sexual minority can change an individual's attitude toward sexual minority (Axt et al., 2020). Since contact was not controlled in the present experimental design, it might have influenced the results obtained in my study. Future research can control the contact effect on follower's hiring decision and attitude toward sexual minority co-workers. One more limitation of my study is that I did not include a question about sexual orientation of the participant in the demographic questionnaire. This is because LGBT workers represent a minority group in the workforce (Herek & McLemore, 2013; Ozeren, 2014) and thus most study of the participants (full time working adults) would likely be mostly heterosexual males and females (majority).

Moreover, sexual orientation is a sensitive which a participant might not be comfortable to disclose. However, future studies can confirm the sexual orientation of the participants to ensure a better sample for the study (only heterosexual participants) and to eliminate the responses of LGBT employees to minimize bias. Another limitation of my study is that I recruited participants globally. There are differences in laws, culture, expectations, and treatment of gay men between countries (as previously discussed in the literature review). These factors may shape an individual's hiring decision concerning gay men and attitude towards gay men. Although the participants were randomly assigned to the four experimental conditions, and I found no significant differences between the participants by condition, I cannot rule out that such country-specific factors may have influenced the findings of the study Hence, to minimize the said influence, future studies can consider country as a screening variable while recruiting participants. Lastly, in my study participants answered the manipulation check questions before the measurement of dependent variables. Although the procedure is consistent with other vignette-based studies (e.g., Strbić et al., 2019), some scholars are of the opinion that if a manipulation check is taken between the manipulation and dependent measure in the main study, participants will become wise to variables of interest thereby creating demand effects (Ejelöv & Luke, 2020). Accordingly, future studies may wish to avoid asking manipulation check questions between the manipulation and measures of dependent variables.

Conclusion

As organizations take strides toward increased diversity and inclusion, the question of how to reduce discrimination against LGBT, and in this study gay men, employees remain relevant. Grounded in the Social Learning Theory and Social Identity Theory, and through the use of an experimental paradigm, I found evidence that hiring decision and attitudinal reactions of followers with respect to gay men employees can be influenced by leader's support for inclusion and as a function of leader's sexual orientation. These findings have important implications for organizations considering making their work environment more diverse and inclusive.

References

- Aguinis, H., & Bradley, K. J. (2014). Best Practice Recommendations for Designing and Implementing Experimental Vignette Methodology Studies. Organizational Research Methods, 17(4), 351–371. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428114547952
- Ahmed, A. M., Andersson, L., & Hammarstedt, M. (2013). Are Gay Men and Lesbians Discriminated against in the Hiring Process? *Southern Economic Journal*, 79(3), 565–585. https://doi.org/10.4284/0038-4038-2011.317
- American Psychological Association. (2015). Guidelines for psychological practice with transgender and gender nonconforming people. *American Psychologist*, 70(9), 832-864. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039906
- Angelo, P.J., & Bocci, D. (2021, January 29). The Changing Landscape of Global LGBTQ+ Rights. *Council on Foreign Relations*. https://www.cfr.org/article/changing-landscape-globallgbtq-rights
- Anteby, M., & Anderson, C. (2014). The shifting landscape of LGBT organizational research. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 34(September), 3–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2014.08.001
- Arabsheibani, G. R., Marin, A., & Wadsworth, J. (2005). Gays' pay in the UK. *Economica*, 72, 333–347.
- Aryee, S., Sun, L. Y., Chen, Z. X., & Debrah, Y. A. (2007). Antecedents and outcomes of abusive supervision: Test of a trickle-down model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(1), 191–201. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.1.191

- Ashikali, T., Groeneveld, S., & Kuipers, B. (2021). The Role of Inclusive Leadership in Supporting an Inclusive Climate in Diverse Public Sector Teams. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 41(3), 497–519. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X19899722
- Axt, J. R., Conway, M. A., Westgate, E. C., & Buttrick, N. R. (2021). Implicit Transgender Attitudes Independently Predict Beliefs About Gender and Transgender People. *Personality* and Social Psychology Bulletin, 47(2), 257–274. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167220921065
- Badgett, M., Lau, H., Sears, B., & Ho, D. (2007). Bias in the Workplace: Consistent Evidence of Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity Discrimination. UCLA: The Williams Institute. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/5h3731xr
- Badgett, M. V. L., Waaldijk, K., & Rodgers, Y. van der M. (2019). The relationship between LGBT inclusion and economic development: Macro-level evidence. *World Development*, 120, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.03.011
- Baert, S. (2018). Hiring a Gay Man, Taking a Risk?: A Lab Experiment on Employment
 Discrimination and Risk Aversion. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 65(8), 1015–1031.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2017.1364950
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social Learning Theory. Prentice-Hall.
- Bell, M.P., Özbilgin, M.F., Beauregard, T.A., & Sürgevil, O. (2011). Voice, silence, and diversity in 21st century organizations: strategies for inclusion of gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender employees. *Human Resource Management*, 50 (1), 131–146.
- Berg, N., & Lien, D. (2002). Measuring the effect of sexual orientation on income: Evidence of discrimination. *Contemporary Economic Policy*, 20, 394-414.

- Bettinsoli, M. L., Suppes, A., & Napier, J. L. (2020). Predictors of Attitudes Toward Gay Men and Lesbian Women in 23 Countries. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 11(5), 697– 708. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550619887785
- Black, D., Makar, H., Sanders, S., & Taylor, L. (2003). The earnings effects of sexual orientation. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 56(3), 449–469.
- Blashill, A. J., & Powlishta, K. K. (2009). The impact of sexual orientation and gender role on evaluations of men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity, 10,* 160–173.
- Bobek, V., Maček, A., Bradler, S., & Horvat, T. (2018). How to Reduce Discrimination in the Workplace: The Case of Austria and Taiwan (R.O.C.). *Naše Gospodarstvo/Our Economy*, 64(3), 12–22. https://doi.org/10.2478/ngoe-2018-0014
- Borillo, D. (2001). L'homophobie. PUF.
- Bostwick, W. B., Boyd, C. J., Hughes, T. L., & West, B. (2014). Discrimination and Mental Health Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Adults in the United States. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 84(1), 35–45. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0098851.Discrimination
- Branscombe, N. R., Wann, D. L., Noel, J. G., & Coleman, J. (1993). In-group or out-group extremity: Importance of the threatened social identity. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 19(4), 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167293194003
- Brodmann, J., Hossain, A., Masum, A. Al, & Singhvi, M. (2021). Chief Executive Officer power and Corporate Sexual Orientation Equality. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance*, *31*(C). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbef.2021.100543

- Brown, M. E., Treviño, L. K., & Harrison, D. A. (2005). Ethical leadership: A social learning perspective for construct development and testing. *Organizational behavior and human decision processes*, 97(2), 117-134.
- Buhrmester, M., Kwang, T., & Gosling, S. D. (2011). Amazon's Mechanical Turk: A New Source of Inexpensive, Yet High-Quality, Data? *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 6(1), 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691610393980
- Burgess, D., Lee, R., Tran, A., & Van Ryn, M. (2008). Effects of perceived discrimination on mental health and mental health services utilization among gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender persons. *Journal of LGBT Health Research*, 3(4), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/15574090802226626
- Burn, I. (2020). The Relationship between Prejudice and Wage Penalties for Gay Men in the United States. *ILR Review*, *73(3)*, 650–675. https://doi.org/10.1177/0019793919864891
- Carpenter, C. S. (2008). Sexual orientation, work, and income in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Economics*, *41*(4), 1239–1261. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5982.2008.00502.x
- Chang, J., Bowring, M.A. (2015). The perceived impact of sexual orientation on the ability of queer leaders to relate to followers. *Leadership*, 13(3), 285-300. https://doi:10.1177/1742715015586215
- Chen, Y., Wang, L., Liu, X., Chen, H., Hu, Y., & Yang, H. (2019). The trickle-down effect of leaders' pro-social rule breaking: Joint moderating role of empowering leadership and courage. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9(JAN), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02647

- Clain, S. H., & Leppel, K. (2001). An investigation into sexual orientation discrimination as an explanation for wage differences. *Applied Economics*, *33*, 37–47.
- Clarke, H. M., Ford, D. P., & Sulsky, L. M. (2016). Moderating effects of harasser status and target gender on the relationship between unwanted sexual attention and overall job satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *46*(12), 701–

717. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12408

- Clarke, H. M., & Arnold, K. A. (2018). The Influence of Sexual Orientation on the Perceived Fit of Male Applicants for Both Male- and Female-Typed Jobs. *Frontiers in psychology*, 9, 656. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00656
- Cochran, S. D., Keenan, C., Schober, C., & Mays, V. M. (2000). Estimates of alcohol use and clinical treatment needs among homosexually active men and women in the U.S. population. *Journal of Consulting Clinical Psychology*, 68, 1062–1071.
- Coffman, K.B., Coffman, L.C., & Marzilli Ericson, K.M. (2017). The Size of the LGBT
 Population and the Magnitude of Antigay Sentiment Are Substantially Underestimated.
 Management Science, 63(10), 3168-3186. https://doi.org/10.1287/ mnsc.2016.2503
- Corrigan, P. W., Larson, J. E., Hautamaki, J., Matthews, A., Kuwabara, S., Rafacz, J., Walton, J., Wassel, A., & O'Shaughnessy, J. (2009). What lessons do coming out as gay men or lesbians have for people stigmatized by mental illness? *Community Mental Health Journal*, 45(5), 366– 374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-009-9187-6
- Cottais, C. (2021, January 28). Gay rights around the world: where are we at? *Generation for Rights Over the World*. https://www.growthinktank.org/en/gay-rights-around-the-world-whereare-we-at/

- Croteau, R. (1996). Research on the work experiences of gay, lesbian, and bisexual people: An integrative review of methodology and findings. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *48*(2), 195–209.
- Czopp, A. M., & Monteith, M. J. (2003). Confronting prejudice (literally): Reactions to confrontations of racial and gender bias. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 29*, 532–544. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0146167202250923
- Day, N. E., & Schoenrade, P. (1997). Staying in the closet versus coming out: Relationships between communication about sexual orientation and work attitudes. *Personnel Psychology*, 50(1), 147–163.
- Drydakis, N. (2009). Sexual orientation discrimination in the labour market. *Labour Economics*, *16*, 364–372.
- Drydakis, N. (2011). Women's Sexual Orientation and Labor Market Outcomes in Greece. Feminist Economics, 17(1), 89-117.
- Drydakis, N. (2012). Sexual Orientation and labor relations: new evidence from Athens, Greece. *Applied Economics*, 44(20), 2653-2665
- Drydakis, N. (2014). Sexual orientation discrimination in the Cypriot labour market. Distastes or uncertainty? *International Journal of Manpower*, *35*, 720–744.
- Eagly, A. H., & Chaiken, S. (1975). An attribution analysis of the effect of communicator characteristics on opinion change: The case of commu-nicator attractiveness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 32,136–144. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0076850
- Eagly, A. H., Wood, W., & Chaiken, S. (1978). Causal inferences about communicators and their effect on opinion change. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *36*, 424–435. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.36.4.424

- Ejelöv, E., & Luke, T. J. (2020). "Rarely safe to assume": Evaluating the use and interpretation of manipulation checks in experimental social psychology. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 87, 103937. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2019.103937
- Eurofound. (2016, May). *Working life experiences of LGBT people and initiatives to tackle discrimination*. https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/report/2016/eu-member-states/working-life-experiences-of-lgbt-people-and-initiatives-to-tackle-discrimination
- European Commission. (2015). List of Actions by the Commission to Advance LGBTI Equality. https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/lgbti-actionlist-dg-just_en.pdf
- Everett, J. A., Faber, N. S., & Crockett, M. (2015). Preferences and beliefs in ingroup favoritism. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00015
- Fischer, D. G., & Fick, C. (1993). Measuring Social Desirability: Short Forms of the Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 53(2), 417– 424. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164493053002011
- Fric, K. (2019). How does being out at work relate to discrimination and unemployment of gays and lesbians? *Journal for Labour Market Research*, 53(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12651-019-0264-1
- Ganta, V. C., & Manukonda, J. K. (2014). Leadership during change and uncertainty in organizations. *International Journal of Organizational Behaviour & Management Perspectives*, 3(3), 1183.

Gao, H., & Zhang, W. (2016). Employment nondiscrimination acts and corporate innovation. *Management Science*, *63*(9), 2982–2999. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2016.2457

- Gardner, D. M., & Ryan, A. M. (2020). What's in it for you? Demographics and self-interest perceptions in diversity promotion. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 105(9), 1062–1072. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000478
- Gerber, P. (2020, December 22). *Countries that still criminalise homosexuality*. Retrieved January 03, 2020, from https://antigaylaws.org/
- Gleibs, I. H. (2017). Are all "research fields" equal? Rethinking practice for the use of data from crowdsourcing market places. *Behavior Research Methods*, 49(4), 1333– 1342. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-016-0789-y
- Goldman, S. K. (2017). Explaining White Opposition to Black Political Leadership: The Role of Fear of Racial Favoritism. *Political Psychology*, 38(5), 721–739.
 http://www.jstor.org/stable/45095175
- Goodman, J. A., Schell, J., Alexander, M. G., & Eidelman, S. (2008). The impact of a derogatory remark on prejudice toward a gay male leader. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 38,* 542–555.
- Goodman, J. K., & Paolacci, G. (2017). Crowdsourcing consumer research. Journal of Consumer Research, 44, 196-210. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucx047
- Griffith, K. H., & Hebl, M. R. (2002). The disclosure dilemma for gay men and lesbians: "Coming out" at work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(6), 1191–1199.

- Hancock, A., Clarke, H.M., & Arnold, K.A. (2020). Sexual Orientation Occupational Stereotypes. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 119: 1034207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103427
- Herek, G. M. (2008). Sexual prejudice. In T. Nelson (Ed.), *Handbook of prejudice* (pp. 439–465). Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Herek, G. M., & McLemore, K. A. (2013). Sexual prejudice. Annual Review of Psychology, 64, 309–333. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143826
- Herrell, R., Goldberg, J., True, W. R., Ramakrishnan, V., Lyons, M., Eisen, S., & Tsuang, M. T. (1999). Sexual orientation and suicidality: A co-twin control study in adult men. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56(10), 867–874.
- Hewlett, S. A., & Sumberg. K. (2011, July August). For LGBT Workers, Being "Out" Brings Advantages. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2011/07/for-lgbt-workers-being-outbrings-advantages
- Hill, R. J. (2009). Incorporating Queers: Blowback, Backlash, and Other Forms of Resistance to Workplace Diversity Initiatives That Support Sexual Minorities. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 11(1), 37–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422308328128
- Huebner, D. M., Rebchook, G. M., & Kegeles, S. M. (2004). Experiences of harassment, discrimination, and physical violence among young gay and bisexual men. *American Journal* of Public Health, 94(7), 1200–1203. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.94.7.1200
- Human Rights Campaign. (2021, January 28). The Human Rights Campaign Releases Annual Corporate Equality Index [Press release]. https://www.hrc.org/press-releases/the-human-rightscampaign-releases-annual-corporate-equality-index

- International Labour Organization (ILO). (2017). *Discrimination at work on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity: Results of the ILO's PRIDE Project.* https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/%2D%2D-dgreports/%2D%2Dgender/documents/briefingnote/wcms 368962.pdf
- Johnston, D., & Malina, M. A. (2008). Managing sexual orientation diversity: The impact on firm value. *Group and Organization Management*, 33(5), 602–625. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601108321833
- Jones, B.R., Wiley, S., LoPilato, A.C., Dahling, J.J.(2020). One of us? How leaders can use subtle identity performances to build trust among ingroups and outgroups. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations, 23*(1), 109-126. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430218779701\
- Kidder, D. L., Lankau, M. J., Chrobot-Mason, D., Mollica, K. A., & Friedman, R. A. (2004).
 Backlash toward Diversity Initiatives: Examining the Impact of Diversity Program
 Justification, Personal and Group Outcomes. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 15(1), 77–102. https://doi.org/10.1108/eb022908
- King, M., McKeown, E., Warner, J., Ramsay, A., Johnson, K., Cort, C., et al. (2003). Mental health and quality of life of gay men and lesbians in England and Wales: Controlled, cross-sectional study. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 183, 552–558.
- Koenig, A. M., Eagly, A. H., Mitchell, A. A., & Ristikari, T. (2011). Are leader stereotypes masculine? A meta-analysis of three research paradigms. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137, 616–642.

- Krentz, M., Dartnell, A., Khanna, D., & Locklair, S. (2021, September 14). *Inclusive Cultures Have Healthier and Happier Workers*. BCG. https://www.bcg.com/publications/2021/buildingan-inclusive-culture-leads to-happier-healthier-workers
- Larson, R. B. (2019). Controlling social desirability bias. *International Journal of Market Research, 61*(5), 534–547. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470785318805305
- Lavidas, K., & Gialamas, V. (2019). Adaptation and psychometric properties of the short forms Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 6(8), 230–239. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3552531
- Lee, S., Byun, G., & Dai, Y. (2017). The Trickle-down Effect of Ethical Leadership : The Moderating effect of Exchange Ideology. *The Korean Academic Association of Business Administration, 30*(4), 689-710. https://doi.org/10.18032/kaaba.2017.30.4.689
- Li, F., & Nagar, V. (2013). Diversity and performance. *Management Science*, *59*(3), 529–544. http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1120.1548
- Li, Y., & Sun, J.M. (2015). Traditional Chinese leadership and employee voice behavior: A crosslevel examination. *Leadership Quarterly*, *26*, 172-189.
- Li, Y., Wang, Z., Yang, L.-Q., & Liu, S. (2016). The crossover of psychological distress from leaders to subordinates in teams: The role of abusive supervision, psychological capital, and team performance. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *21*(2), 142-153. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039960
- Ling, Q., Lin, M., & Wu, X. (2016). The trickle-down effect of servant leadership on frontline employee service behaviors and performance: A multilevel study of Chinese hotels. *Tourism Management*, 52, 341–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.07.008

- Lu, X., Xie, B., & Guo, Y. (2018). The trickle-down of work engagement from leader to follower: The roles of optimism and self-efficacy. *Journal of Business Research*, 84(June 2016), 186– 195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.11.014
- Majumdar, B., Browne, G., Roberts, J., & Carpio, B. (2004). Effects of cultural sensitivity training on health care provider attitudes and patient outcomes. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 36*, 161–166. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.2004.04029.x
- Maner, J. K., Kenrick, D. T., Becker, D. V., Robertson, T. E., Hofer, B., Neuberg, S. L., Delton, A. W., Butner, J., & Schaller, M. (2005). Functional projection: How fundamental social motives can bias interpersonal perception. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88(1), 63–78. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.88.1.63
- Masci, D., Sciupac, E., & Lipka, M. (2019, October 28). Same-Sex Marriage Around the World. *Pew Research Centre*. https://www.pewforum.org/fact-sheet/gay-marriage-around-the-world/
- McPherson, B. (2009). Equipping managers to lead a diverse workforce. *Ethnicity and Inequalities in Health and Social Care*, 2(2), 37–40. http://doi.org/10.1108/17570980200900014
- Moleiro, C., & Pinto, N. (2015). Sexual orientation and gender identity: Review of concepts, controversies and their relation to psychopathology classification systems. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6(OCT), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01511
- Montei, M. S., Adams, G. A., & Eggers, L. M. (1996). Validity of scores on the attitudes toward diversity scale (ATDS). *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 56(2), 293–303. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164496056002010

- Morrison, E. W. (2006). Doing the job well: an investigation of pro-social rule breaking. *Journal of Management, 32*, 5–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206305277790
- Ozeren, E. (2014). Sexual Orientation Discrimination in the Workplace: A Systematic Review of Literature. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 109, 1203–1215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.613
- Ozturk, M. B. (2011). Sexual orientation discrimination: Exploring the experiences of lesbian, gay and bisexual employees in Turkey. *Human Relations*, *64*(8), 1099–1118.
- Ozturk, M. B., & Tatli, A. (2016). Gender identity inclusion in the workplace: Broadening diversity management research and practice through the case of transgender employees in the UK. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 27*(8), 781–802. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2015.1042902
- Patacchini, E., Ragusa, G., & Zenou, Y. (2015). Unexplored dimensions of discrimination in Europe: homosexuality and physical appearance. *Journal of Population Economics*, 28, 1045– 1073.
- Peer, E., Brandimarte, L., Samat, S., & Acquisti, A. (2017). Beyond the Turk: Alternative platforms for crowdsourcing behavioral research. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 70, 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2017.01.006
- Perraudin, F. (2019, May 17). Survey finds 70% of LGBT people sexually harassed at work. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2019/may/17/survey-finds-70-of-lgbt-people-sexually-harassed-at-work

- Petty, R. E., Fleming, M. A., Priester, J. R., & Feinstein, A. H. (2001). Individual versus group interest violation: Surprise as a determinant of argument scrutiny and persuasion. *Social Cognition, 19,* 418—442. http://dx.doi.org/10.1521/soco.19.4.418.20758
- Porter, C. O. L. H., Outlaw, R., Gale, J. P., & Cho, T. S. (2019). The Use of Online Panel Data in Management Research: A Review and Recommendations. *Journal of Management*, 45(1), 319–344. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206318811569
- Poushter, J., & Kent, N. (2020, June 25). The Global Divide on Homosexuality Persists. *Pew Research Centre*. https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2020/06/25/global-divide-on-homosexuality-persists/
- Priester, J. R., & Petty, R. E. (1995). Source attributions and persuasion: Perceived honesty as a determinant of message scrutiny. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 21*, 637–654. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0146167295216010
- Ragins, B. R., & Cornwell, J. M. (2001). Pink triangles: Antecedents and consequences of perceived workplace discrimination against gay and lesbian employees. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(6), 1244–1261. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.6.1244
- Ragins, B. R. (2004). Sexual orientation in the workplace: The unique work and career experiences of gay, lesbian and bisexual workers. In J. J. Martocchio (Ed.), *Research in personnel and human resources management* (pp. 35–129). Elsevier Science/JAI Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-7301(04)23002-X

- Reynolds, W. M. (1982). Development of reliable and valid short forms of the Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *38*(1), 119-125. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(198201)38:1<119::AID-JCLP2270380118>3.0.CO;2-I
- Rice, D. B. (2018). Millennials and Institutional Resentment: A New Integrated Process of Marginalization, Suppression, and Retribution. In M. Gerhardt & J. Peluchette (Eds.), *Millennials: Characteristics, Trends, and Perspectives* (pp. 251-282). Nova Science Publishers.
- Rice, D.B., Young, N.C.J., & Sheridan, S. (2021). Improving employee emotional and behavioral investments through the trickle-down effect of organizational inclusiveness and the role of moral supervisors. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *36*, 267–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-019-09675-2
- Roberson, L., Kulik, C. T., & Pepper, M. B. (2009). Individual and environmental factors influencing the use of transfer strategies after diversity training. *Group & Organization Management, 34*, 67–89. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1059601108329732
- Rudman, L. A., & Glick, P. (2001). Prescriptive gender stereotypes and backlash toward agentic women. *Journal of Social Issues*, *57*(4), 743–762. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00239
- Sârbescu, P., Costea, I., & Rusu, S. (2012). Psychometric properties of the MarloweCrowne social desirability scale in a Romanian sample. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 33, 707-711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.01.213

- Schneider, K. T., Wesselmann, E. D., & DeSouza, E. R. (2017). Confronting subtle workplace mistreatment: The importance of leaders as allies. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(JUN), 8–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01051
- Serrano Amaya, J. F., & Ríos González, O. (2019). Introduction to the Special Issue: Challenges of LGBT research in the 21st century. *International Sociology*, 34(4), 371–381. https://doi.org/10.1177/0268580919856490
- Shan, L., Fu, S., & Zheng, L. (2016). Corporate sexual equality and firm performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, 38(9), 1812-1826. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2624
- Solomon, S., Greenberg, J., & Pyszczynski, T. (2000). Pride and prejudice: Fear of death and social behavior. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 9(6), 200– 204. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00094
- Spears, R., Doosje, B., & Ellemers, N. (1997). Self-stereotyping in the face of threats to group status and distinctiveness: The role of group identification. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 23*, 538–553. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167297235009
- Steffens, M. C., & Wagner, C. (2004). Attitudes Toward Lesbians, Gay Men, Bisexual Women, and Bisexual Men in Germany. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 41(2), 137–149. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3813648
- Štrbić, M., Jeleković, T., Popović, D., Brajković, M., & Žukina, P. (2019). Evaluations of Parenting by Same-Sex vs Different- Sex Couples among Heterosexual University Students : Experimental Between-Subjects Vignette Design Study. *Croatian Sociological Review, 49*, 253-281. https://doi.org/10.5613/rzs.49.2.6

- Sull, D., Sull, C., & Zweig, B. (2022, January 11). Toxic Culture Is Driving the Great Resignation. MIT Sloan Management Review. https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/toxic-culture-is-drivingthe-great-resignation/
- Sy, T., Shore, L. M., Strauss, J., Shore, T. H., Tram, S., Whiteley, P., & Ikeda-Muromachi, K. (2010). Leadership perceptions as a function of race–occupation fit: The case of Asian Americans. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(5), 902–919.
- Tajfel, H., Billig, M., Bundy, R., & Flament, C. (1971). Social categorization and intergroup behavior. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 1(2), 149-178. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2420010202
- Tajfel, H. (1978). The achievement of inter-group differentiation. In H. Tajfel (Ed.), *Differentiation between social groups* (pp. 77–100). Academic Press.
- Tajfel, H., & Turner, J. C. (1979). An integrative theory of intergroup conflict. In W. G. Austin, &S. Worchel (Eds.), *The social psychology of intergroup relations* (pp. 33-37). Brooks/Cole.
- Taylor, S. G., & Pattie, M. W. (2014). When does ethical leadership affect workplace incivility?
 The moderating role of follower personality. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 24(4), 595–616.
 https://doi.org/10.5840/beq201492618
- Thoroughgood, C. N., Sawyer, K. B., & Webster, J. R. (2020, March April). Creating a Trans-Inclusive Workplace: How to make transgender employees feel valued at work. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2020/03/creating-a-trans-inclusive-workplace

- Tilcsik, A. (2011). Pride and Prejudice: Employment Discrimination against Openly Gay Men in the United States. *American Journal of Sociology*, 117(2), 586–626. https://doi.org/10.1086/661653
- Tisserant, P., Wagner, A. L., & Barth, I. (2013). The propensity to discriminate: A diagnostic indicator for diversity management. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 32(1), 36–48. http://doi.org/10.1108/02610151311305605
- Tourangeau, R., & Yan, T. (2007). Sensitive questions in surveys. *Psychological Bulletin, 133*(5), 859–883. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133.5.859
- Turner, J. C. (1981). The experimental social psychology of intergroup behavior. In J. C. Turner &H. Giles (Eds.), *Intergroup behaviour* (pp. 66-101). University of Chicago Press.
- Turner, J.C., Hogg, M.A., Oakes, P.J., Reicher, S.D., & Wetherell, M.S. (1987). Rediscovering the Social Group: A Self-Categorization Theory. Basil Blackwell.
- Valfort, M. (2017). *LGBTI in OECD Countries: A Review* (OECD Working Paper No. 198). Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. https://www.oecdilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/lgbti-in-oecd-countries d5d49711-en
- Vohra, N., Chari (Coordinators), V., Mathur, P., Sudarshan, P., Verma, N., Mathur, N., Thakur, P., Chopra, T., Srivastava, Y., Gupta, S., Dasmahapatra, V., Fonia, S., & Gandhi, H. K. (2015).
 Inclusive Workplaces: Lessons from Theory and Practice. *Vikalpa, 40*(3), 324-362.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0256090915601515
- Wandrekar, J. R., & Nigudkar, A. S. (2020). What Do We Know About LGBTQIA+ Mental Health in India? A Review of Research From 2009 to 2019. *Journal of Psychosexual Health*, 2(1), 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/2631831820918129

- Wang, G., Steffensen, D.S., Perrewé, P.L., Ferris, G.R., & Jordan, S.L. (2021). Does Leader Samesex Sexual Orientation Matter to Leadership Effectiveness? A Four-study Model-testing Investigation. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, July 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-021-09759-y
- Wang, P. & Schwarz, J. L. (2010). Stock Price Reactions to Glbt Nondiscrimination Policies. *Human Resource Management*, 49(2), 195-216.
- Wang, Z., Xu, H., & Du, C. (2015). The trickle-down effect in leadership research: a review and prospect. Advances in Psychological Science, 23, 1079–1094. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1042.2015.01079
- Wang, Z., Xu, H., & Liu, Y. (2017). Servant leadership as a driver of employee service performance: test of a trickle-down model and its boundary conditions. *Human Relations*, 71(1), 1179–1203
- Wareham, J. (2020, May 17). Map Shows Where It's Illegal To Be Gay 30 Years Since WHO Declassified Homosexuality As Disease. *Forbes*.
 https://www.forbes.com/sites/jamiewareham/2020/05/17/map-shows-where-its-illegal-to-be-gay--30-years-since-who-declassified-homosexuality-as-disease/?sh=1cdd5560578a
- Warner, M. (1991). Introduction: Fear of a Queer Planet. Social Text, 29, 3-17. https://www.jstor.org/stable/466295
- Wo, D. X., Ambrose, M. L., & Schminke, M. (2015). What drives trickle-down effects? A test of multiple mediation processes. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(6), 1848–1868

- Yang, J., Zhang, Z.X., & Tsui, A.S. (2010).Middle manager leadership and frontline employee performance: Bypass, cascading, and moderating effects. *Journal of Management Studies, 47*, 654-678.
- Zappula, A. (2017, 14 January). The simple reason why so many businesses support LGBT rights. *World Economic Forum*. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2017/01/why-so-many-businesses-support-lgbt-rights/

Appendix A: Vignettes

Scenarios Baseline (for all conditions): Imagine that you are employed with Smart Resources Inc., a company developing content for employee selection processes for the banking industry. The firm develops selection content for three areas: (i) Verbal Aptitude; (ii) Quantitative Aptitude; and (3) Logical Reasoning Aptitude. Accordingly, there are three departments, one for each of the areas of content development. Each department has 17 members: 1 Head of the Department (HOD), 4 Senior Content Managers working under the HOD's supervision, and 12 Junior Content Managers working under the supervision of Senior Content Managers. Each Senior Content Manager supervises a team of three Junior Content Managers. Your organization places a significant emphasis on developing content within the deadlines specified in the client contracts. Failure to meet these deadlines delays the client's ability to hire staff in a timely manner. As a consequence, Smart Resources Inc., may lose future business opportunities from the client organization if they miss a deadline. If a deadline is missed, the norm is that the HOD meets the appropriate Content Manager in private to discuss the reasons for the delay. The HOD never discusses such performance issues (including missing deadlines) in front of other employees.

Four years ago, you were recruited as a Senior Content Manager for the Verbal Aptitude test. Your job responsibilities include developing content for the Verbal Aptitude test, 'reviewing' the content developed with other content managers (both Senior and Junior Content Managers), and assisting with the selection and training of new Junior Content Managers. The 'Review' is a collective weekly meeting of content managers to discuss and evaluate the content developed in that particular week.

You report to 'Peter' who is the HOD of the Verbal Aptitude department. 'David' (Senior Content Manager) is your coworker in the Verbal Aptitude test department. David was hired three years ago in Smart resources Inc. David completed his Master Degree in Educational Psychology from a University located in his hometown. David's hometown is located an hour away from the town where Smart Resources Inc. is located. When he was hired, David moved with his boyfriend (Adam) to the town where Smart Resources Inc. is based. David is a good performer in the organization, enjoys being a content developer and keeps attending various academic workshop to improve his skills. Last year, David came out as gay to the entire department (HOD and Content Managers).

Condition 1 (no support—heterosexual leader) Peter (the HOD) married his wife Paula three years ago after dating her for four years. Peter takes a special interest in organizing a 'Friends and Family Evening' event every year for all employees of the organization. Peter insists that all employees should bring their partners to that event. However, this year, Peter, while discussing the event in the middle of a review meeting, specifically asked David not to bring Adam as many employees who will be attending the event with their friends and family might find it uncomfortable with a gay couple. Last week, when you were considered for interviewing potential content managers for your department, Peter asked you to avoid recruiting gay people as they might be considered a distraction in the work environment by other employees. Later that day, Peter publicly reprimanded David in a review meeting for missing a deadline by only a few hours. This public reprimand was not the usual practice at the organization.

Condition 2 (support—heterosexual leader) Peter (the HOD) married his wife Paula three years ago after dating her for four years. Peter takes a special interest in organizing a 'Friends and Family Evening' event every year for all employees of the organization. Peter insists that all employees should bring their partners to that event. This year, Peter, while discussing the event in the middle of a review meeting, specifically encouraged David to bring Adam as this would help normalize the notion of gay partners among employees who will be attending the event with their friends and family. Last week, when you were considered for interviewing potential content managers for your department, Peter asked you to treat all interviewees equally, irrespective of their gender, race, or sexual orientation. Peter also stated that such fair treatment would ensure that the best candidate would be selected for the job and enrich workplace diversity. As was the usual practice, later that day, Peter met David in private to discuss that a deadline was missed by a few hours.

Condition 3 (no support—gay leader) Peter (the HOD) married his husband Michael three years ago after dating him for four years. Peter takes a special interest in organizing a 'Friends and Family Evening' event every year for all employees of the organization. Peter insists that all employees should bring their partners to that event. However, this year, Peter, while discussing the event in the middle of a review meeting, specifically asked David not to bring Adam as many employees who will be attending the event with their friends and family might find it uncomfortable with a gay couple. Last week, when you were considered for interviewing potential content managers for your department, Peter asked you to avoid recruiting gay people as they might be considered a distraction in the work environment by other employees. Later that day, Peter publicly reprimanded David in a review meeting for missing a deadline by only a few hours. This public reprimand was not the usual practice at the organization.

Condition 4 (support—gay leader) Peter (the HOD) married his husband Michael three years ago after dating him for four years. Peter takes a special interest in organizing a 'Friends and Family Evening' event every year for all employees of the organization. Peter insists that all employees should bring their partners to that event. This year, Peter, while discussing the event in the middle of a review meeting, specifically encouraged David to bring Adam as this would help normalize the notion of gay partners among employees who will be attending the event with their friends and family. Last week, when you were considered for interviewing potential content managers for your department, Peter asked you to treat all interviewees equally, irrespective of their gender, race, or sexual orientation. Peter also stated that such fair treatment would ensure that the deserving candidate would be selected for the job and enrich workplace diversity. As was the usual practice, later that day, Peter met David in private to discuss that a deadline was missed by a few hours.

Appendix B: Tables

1	2	3	4
.64**			
-0.03	-0.07		
0.03	-0.05	.50**	
0.09	0.11	0.11	0.02
	-0.03 0.03	.64 ^{**} -0.03 -0.07 0.03 -0.05	.64** -0.03 -0.07 0.03 -0.05 .50**

Table 1.1: Correlations between Variables in the Study

Note: N = 149, **. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

 Table 1.2: Means and Standard Deviations for Dependent Variables

Dependent Variables	N	Mean	Std. Deviation
Hiring Decision	149	12.79	2.626
Attitude toward Gay Men Co-workers	149	41.27	6.541
Valid N (listwise)	149		

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	95.013 ^a	3	31.671	4.962	.003	.093
Intercept	24204.078	1	24204.078	3791.949	<.001	.963
Sexual	48.421	1	48.421	7.586	.007	.050
Orientation						
Leader's Support	44.731	1	44.731	7.008	.009	.046
Sexual	.148	1	.148	.023	.879	.000
Orientation *						
Leader's Support						
Error	925.538	145	6.383			
Total	25402.000	149				
Corrected Total	1020.550	148				
a. R Squared = .093 (Adjusted R Squared = .074)						

 Table 2.1: Results of Two-way Analysis of Variance on Follower's Decision to Hire a Gay Man.

Table 2.2: Descriptive Statistics with regard to Effect of Sexual Orientation and Leader'sSupport on Followers' Decision to Hire a Gay Man.

Sexual	Leader's			
Orientation	Support	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
Heterosexual	Non supportive	12.82	2.827	38
Man Leader				
	Supportive	13.85	1.902	40
	Total	13.35	2.438	78
Gay Man Leader	Non supportive	11.61	2.654	36
	Supportive	12.77	2.669	35
	Total	12.18	2.706	71
Total	Non supportive	12.23	2.792	74
	Supportive	13.35	2.339	75
	Total	12.79	2.626	149

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	290.527 ^a	3	96.842	2.325	.077	.046
Intercept	252301.801	1	252301.801	6056.178	<.001	.977
Sexual	272.214	1	272.214	6.534	.012	.043
Orientation						
Leader's Support	15.501	1	15.501	.372	.543	.003
Sexual	.453	1	.453	.011	.917	.000
Orientation *						
Leader's Support						
Error	6040.734	145	41.660			
Total	260091.000	149				
Corrected Total	6331.262	148				
a. R Squared = .046 (Adjusted R Squared = .026)						

 Table 3.1: Results of Two-way Analysis of Variance on Followers' Attitude toward Gay Men

 Co-workers.

Table 3.2: Descriptive Statistics with regard to Effect of Sexual Orientation and Leader'sSupport on Followers' Attitude toward Gay Men Co-workers.

Sexual	Leader's			
Orientation	Support	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
Heterosexual	Non supportive	42.29	6.116	38
Man Leader				
	Supportive	42.83	5.883	40
	Total	42.56	5.964	78
Gay Man Leader	Non supportive	39.47	6.609	36
	Supportive	40.23	7.232	35
	Total	39.85	6.884	71
Total	Non supportive	40.92	6.474	74
	Supportive	41.61	6.631	75
	Total	41.27	6.541	149

Appendix C: Measures

Demographic Questionnaire

Gender: Male □	Female□	Non-bi	inary□	Prefer not to	answer□
Age (in years):					
You are living in which c	ountry?				
Highest level of education Ph.D. □	n: High School 🗆	College Diplo	ma 🗆	Bachelor's 🗆 Mast	er's 🗆
None of the above \Box					
Are you currently workin	g full time?	Yes □	No 🗆		
How long have you been	working with your	current employ	yer? (in	months):	

Adapted version of Hireability Index (Rudman & Glick, 2001)

Please indicate on a scale of 1-5 (1=Not at all likely to 5= extremely likely) the following questions.

1. Would you recommend a gay man applicant receive a final round interview for the job of a Content Manager in your organization (Smart Resources Inc.)?

2. Would you personally hire a gay man applicant for the job of a Content Manager in your organization (Smart Resources Inc.)?

3. Do you believe a gay man applicant should be hired for the job of a Content Manager in your organization (Smart Resources Inc.)?

Adapted version of ten-items coworker subscale of Attitudes toward Diversity Scale (ATDS) (Montei et al., 1996).

Instructions:

Read each item and rate them on a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from (1) strongly agree to (5) strongly disagree.

- 1. All in all, I would say that gay man workers are just as productive as other workers. (Reverse-scored item)
- 2. I often pick up the slack for some of my gay man coworkers who are less productive.
- 3. Sometimes I have to compensate for the lack of productivity of gay man workers.
- 4. The most qualified workers seem to be heterosexual men.
- 5. I find that gay man workers seem to be less productive on average.
- 6. The gay man workers in this organization have a greater degree of difficulty getting along with others.
- 7. If a member of my work group were prejudiced (anti-gay), he or she would be less likely to fit in. (Reverse-scored item)
- 8. If one of my coworkers were homophobic, I would confront that person and let him or her know of my disapproval. (Reverse-scored item)
- 9. Workers who are prejudiced (anti-gay) have no place in this organization. (Reverse-scored item)
- 10. I do not feel comfortable with coworkers who are homophobic. (Reverse-scored item)

Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability – Short Form (Reynolds, 1982) Instructions:

Listed below are a number of statements concerning personal attitudes and traits. Read each item and decide how it pertains to you.

Please respond either TRUE (T) or FALSE (F) to each item.

1. It is sometimes hard for me to go on with my work if I am not encouraged. T F

2. I sometimes feel resentful when I don't get my way. T F

3. On a few occasions, I have given up doing something because I thought too little of my ability. T F

4. There have been times when I felt like rebelling against people in authority even though I knew they were right. T F

5. No matter who I'm talking to, I'm always a good listener. T F

6. There have been occasions when I took advantage of someone. T F

7. I'm always willing to admit to it when I make a mistake. T F

8. I sometimes try to get even rather than forgive and forget. T F

9. I am always courteous, even to people who are disagreeable. T F

10. I have never been irked when people expressed ideas very different from my own. T F

11. There have been times when I was quite jealous of the good fortune of others. T F

12. I am sometimes irritated by people who ask favors of me. T F

13. I have never deliberately said something that hurt someone's feelings. T F

Appendix D: Ethics Approval



Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR)

9t. John's, NL Canada A10557 Tel: 709 864-2561. icehr@mun.ca www.mun.ca/research/ethics/humans/icehr

ICEHR Number:	20220724-BA
Approval Period:	November 5, 2021 - November 30, 2022
Funding Source:	
Responsible	Dr. Travor Brown
Faculty:	Faculty of Business Administration
Title of Project:	The Impact of Leader's Support on Employees' attitudes towards Gay Man at the Workplace: Moderating Role of Leader's Sexual Orientation

November 5, 2021

Mr. Abhishek Choudhury Faculty of Business Administration Memorial University

Dear Mr. Choudhury:

Thank you for your correspondence addressing the issues raised by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR) for the above-named research project. ICEHR has re-examined the proposal with the clarifications and revisions submitted, and is satisfied that the concerns raised by the Committee have been adequately addressed. In accordance with the *Tri-Council Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2)*, the project has been granted *full ethics clearance* for one year. ICEHR approval applies to the ethical acceptability of the research, as per Article 6.3 of the *TCPS2*. Researchers are responsible for adherence to any other relevant University policies and/or funded or non-funded agreements that may be associated with the project. If funding is obtained subsequent to ethics approval, you must submit a <u>Funding and/or Partner Change Request</u> to ICEHR so that this ethics clearance can be linked to your award.

The *TCPS2* requires that you strictly adhere to the protocol and documents as last reviewed by ICEHR. If you need to make additions and/or modifications, you must submit an <u>Amendment Request</u> with a description of these changes, for the Committee's review of potential ethical concerns, before they may be implemented. Submit a <u>Personnel Change Form</u> to add or remove project team members and/or research staff. Also, to inform ICEHR of any unanticipated occurrences, an <u>Adverse Event Report</u> must be submitted with an indication of how the unexpected event may affect the continuation of the project.

The *TCPS2* requires that you submit an <u>Annual Update</u> to ICEHR before November 30, 2022. If you plan to continue the project, you need to request renewal of your ethics clearance and include a brief summary on the progress of your research. When the project no longer involves contact with human participants, is completed and/or terminated, you are required to provide an annual update with a brief final summary and your file will be closed. All post-approval <u>ICEHR event forms</u> noted above must be submitted by selecting the <u>Applications</u>: <u>Post-Review</u> link on your Researcher Portal homepage. We wish you success with your research.

Yours sincerely,

James & Drown

James Drover, Ph.D. Vice-Chair, Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research

JD/bc

cc: Supervisor - Dr. Travor Brown, Faculty of Business Administration



Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR)

St. John's, NL. Canada A1C 557 Tet: 709 854-2561 icehr@mun.ca www.mun.ca/research/ethics/humans/icehr

ICEHR Number:	20220724-BA
Approval Period:	November 5, 2021 - November 30, 2022
Funding Source:	
Responsible	Dr. Travor Brown
Faculty:	Faculty of Business Administration
Title of Project:	The Impact of Leader's Support on Employees' attitudes towards Gay Man at the Workplace: Moderating Role of Leader's Sexual Orientation
Amendment #:	01

February 7, 2022

Mr. Abhishek Choudhury Faculty of Business Administration Memorial University

Dear Mr. Choudhury:

The Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR) has reviewed the proposed revisions for the above referenced project, as outlined in your amendment request dated February 1, 2022. We are pleased to give approval to the main study protocols, as described in your request, provided all other previously approved protocols are followed. <u>However, the consent form and the beginning of the survey must state that participants can skip any questions they do not wish to answer.</u>

The *TCPS2* requires that you strictly adhere to the protocol and documents as last reviewed by ICEHR. If you need to make any other additions and/or modifications during the conduct of the research, you must submit an <u>Amendment Request</u> with a description of these changes, for the Committee's review of potential ethical issues, before they may be implemented. Submit a <u>Personnel Change Form</u> to add or remove project team members and/or research staff. Also, to inform ICEHR of any unanticipated occurrences, an <u>Adverse Event Report</u> must be submitted with an indication of how the unexpected event may affect the continuation of the project.

Your ethics clearance for this project expires **November 30, 2022**, before which time you must submit an <u>Annual Update</u> to ICEHR, as required by the *TCPS2*. If you plan to continue the project, you need to request renewal of your ethics clearance, and include a brief summary on the progress of your research. When the project no longer requires contact with human participants, is completed and/or terminated, you need to provide an annual update with a brief final summary, and your file will be closed.

All post-approval <u>ICEHR event forms</u> noted above must be submitted by selecting the *Applications: Post-Review* link on your Researcher Portal homepage.

The Committee would like to thank you for the update on your proposal and we wish you well with your research.

Yours sincerely. James F. Prom James Drover, Ph.D. Vice-Chair, ICEHR

JD/bc

cc: Supervisor - Dr. Travor Brown, Faculty of Business Administration

Appendix E: Consent Form for Prolific Recruitment

Informed Consent Form

Title: Attitude of employees towards hiring job applicants and attitude towards coworkers

Researcher(s):	Abhishek Roy Choudhry
	Faculty of Business, Memorial University
	Email: aroychoudhur@mun.ca
Supervisor(s):	Dr. Travor Brown
	Faculty of Business, Memorial University
	Email: travorb@mun.ca

You are invited to take part in a research project entitled "Attitude of employees towards hiring job applicants and attitude towards coworkers"

This form is part of the process of informed consent. It should give you the basic idea of what the research is about and what your participation will involve. It also describes your right to withdraw from the study. In order to decide whether you wish to participate in this research study, you should understand enough about its risks and benefits to be able to make an informed decision. This is the informed consent process. Take time to read this carefully and to understand the information given to you. Please contact the researcher, *Abhishek Roy Choudhury*, if you have any questions about the study or would like more information before you consent.

It is entirely up to you to decide whether to take part in this research. If you choose not to take part in this research or if you decide to withdraw from the research once it has started, there will be no negative consequences for you, now or in the future. Participants can skip any questions they do not wish to answer.

Introduction:

My name is Abhishek Roy Choudhury. I am a Master's student in Faculty of Business, Memorial University. As part of my Master's thesis, I am conducting research under the supervision of Dr. Travor Brown.

Purpose of study:

The present study's objective is to understand participants' attitudes towards hiring job applicants as employees in their organizations. It also explores participant's attitudes towards working with their coworkers at their workplace.

What you will do in this study:

You will read a scenario related to an employee in an organization. After reading the scenario, you will be asked to answer few questions related to the content of the scenario and complete a short survey.

Length of time:

The total time commitment required to participate in the present study is about 20 minutes. In this time you will be asked to review and sign the consent form, read a scenario, respond to a survey, and read the feedback letter. You will receive 3.20 USD for your participation in the study as the honorarium/compensation. Overall, the entire process will take around 20 minutes.

Withdrawal from the study:

You can stop at any point in the data collection process. If you wish to withdraw from the study, you can stop at any point, and data collected up to that point will be destroyed and not be considered for analysis. To withdraw, you can close the browser or exit the survey at any point (before submitting the survey). However, participants cannot withdraw their data after they submit the survey, as the data is being collected anonymously.

If you decide to withdraw from the study, you will still receive the compensation for your participation.

Possible benefits:

There is little benefit to participants beyond experiential learning concerning research through their participation in the study. The community will benefit from the study as the study intends to uncover attitude of individuals to hire and work with coworkers. The knowledge can help understand individual differences about their attitudes while hiring and can contribute to creating an inclusive work environment. Moreover, the study will also help us understand the nuances of relationships among coworkers.

Possible risks:

As the study deals with the hiring process and working with coworkers, we believe that there is a small likelihood that some participants may find the topic uncomfortable. If you experience any discomfort, you have the right to withdraw from the study anytime. Should you experience any discomfort related to this study, you may contact the employees' wellness/assistance centre in your respective organizations or any mental health organizations in your area. For example, the

Canadian Mental Health Association (.https://cmha.ca/), the Mental Health Foundation in the UK (<u>https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/</u>) or Mental Health America (<u>https://mhanational.org/</u>).

Confidentiality:

Participant's data will remain confidential. Anonymous data will be saved against numbers. No personal information of the participant will be saved along with the participant's responses. Password-protected electronic data will be saved in the Principal investigator's laptop. A backup copy will be stored in Dr. Brown's password protected computer. Only the Principal investigator and his supervisor will have access to the data. Results of the study will publish anonymous summarized group data without any reference to the personal information of participants.

Anonymity:

Every reasonable efforts will be made to ensure participants' anonymity. While participating in the study, only demographic data will be collected from participants. We do not need to know the personal information of the participants (for example name of the participant). The data obtained from the participants will be summarized using statistical tools and presented in the final thesis. The aggregate summarized data will be presented without any identifiers in the final thesis. The collected data will be saved anonymously. Data will be saved against numeric codes to ensure anonymity. No personal information of the participant will be saved along with the participant's responses.

Use, Access, Ownership, and Storage of Data:

The data will be stored on the Principal investigator's personal laptop hard drive. The electronic data files will be password protected and will be stored in a password-protected laptop. A backup copy will be stored in Dr. Brown's password protected computer. The consent form will be stored in a separate password-protected folder on the laptop. Only I and my supervisor will have access to the data.

There is no intention to archive data, and other researchers will not have access to data. Data will be kept for a minimum of five years, as required by Memorial University's policy on Integrity in Scholarly Research. Data will be disposed of after five years.

Third-Party Data Collection and/or Storage:

Data collected from you as part of your participation in this project will be hosted and/or stored electronically by **Qualtrics** and is subject to their privacy policy, and to any relevant laws of the country in which their servers are located. Therefore, anonymity and confidentiality of data may not be guaranteed in the rare instance, for example, that government agencies obtain a court order compelling the provider to grant access to specific data stored on their servers. If you have questions or concerns about how your data will be collected or stored, please contact the researcher and/or visit the provider's website for more information before participating. The privacy and security policy of the third-party hosting data collection and/or storing data can be found at: *https://www.qualtrics.com/privacy-statement/*.

Reporting of Results:

The data will be published in a thesis. Upon completion, my thesis will be available at Memorial University's Queen Elizabeth II library and can be accessed online at: <u>http://collections.mun.ca/cdm/search/collection/theses</u>. The data will be presented in the thesis anonymously and only in an aggregated and/or summarized form.

Sharing of Results with Participants:

The final data will be shared with participants in the form of the final thesis, which will be available in the University's Queen Elizabeth II Library. Participants can have access to the thesis Online at: <u>http://collections.mun.ca/cdm/search/collection/theses</u>.

Questions:

You are welcome to ask questions at any time before, during, or after your participation in this research. If you would like more information about this study, please contact: Abhishek Roy Choudhury (email: aroychoudhur@mun.ca) or Dr. Travor Brown (email: travorb@mun.ca).

The proposal for this research has been reviewed by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and found to be in compliance with Memorial University's ethics policy. If you have ethical concerns about the research, such as the way you have been treated or your rights as a participant, you may contact the Chairperson of the ICEHR at icehr@mun.ca or by telephone at 709-864-2861.

Online consent form:

Consent:

By completing this survey you agree that:

- You have read the information about the research.
- You understand that participants can skip any question that they do not wish to answer.
- You have been advised that you may ask questions about this study and receive answers prior to continuing.
- You are satisfied that any questions you had have been addressed.
- You understand what the study is about and what you will be doing.
- You understand that you are free to withdraw participation from the study by closing your browser window or navigating away from this page, without having to give a reason and that doing so will not affect you now or in the future.

You understand that this data is being collected anonymously, and therefore your data **cannot** be removed once you submit this survey.

By consenting to this online survey, you do not give up your legal rights and do not release the researchers from their professional responsibilities.

Please retain a copy of this consent information for your records. Kindly download the PDF of your consent form here.

Clicking *ACCEPT* below and submitting this survey constitutes consent and implies your agreement to the above statements.